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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinions 

(61 5) B22-41 77 

I have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, and 
each major n111d of the City of Loretto Tennessee (the "City"), as of and for the car nded June 30, 
2023, and the related _notes to the financial statements, which collectively compri e the ity's basic 
financial statements as listed in the table of contents . 

Jn my opinion. the ac ompan ing financial statements referred to above pr sent fairly . in all m terial 
respects th respective financial po ition f the g emmental a tiviti , th bu incss-type a tivilies, 
anti each m€ljor fund the City, as f Jun 30, 2023, and th rcspe tive change · in financial position 
and the respective hlldgetary comparison for the General und and the tatc trccl /\id Fun for the 
year then ended nd, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principl general! accepted in the Unnted States of America. 

Basis/or Opinions 

1 conducted my audit in accordance with auditing standards gen rally accepted in th· United .~tat of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audit contained in the G vernment Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. My responsibilities under those 
tandards are forther de crib d in th Auditor' R sp nsibilities D r the udit or lhe Financial 
tatemcnt section or m rep it. I am required to be independent f the ity and to meet my other 

eLhical re po□sibiliLies, in a cordan with Lbe relevant cU,ical requirements relaLing to m audit. J 
b lie c that th audit e idence J have obtained is ufficient and appropriate to ptovide a basis for my 
audit opinions. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsibl for the preparalion and fair presentation of Lil financial talem nt in 
accordance v ilh a counting principles generally ac cpted in the United tatc of America. and for the 
design, irnplem ntation, and maintenance of inu mal control rel vant to Lh "' pr paration and fair 
presentation of financial statemen lhat are free from material misstatement whether due to fraud or 
error. 

fn preparing the financial ta~cmenls. management is required to evaluat whether there are conditions 
or ev nls, con idcred in th aggregate. that raise substantial doubt about the City's ability to continue 
as a going concern for twelve months b yond the financial tatcment date, including any currently 
known information that may rai e ·ubstanlial d ubt shortly th reafter. 



Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

My objectives are to oblain reasonable assurance abour whether !he financial statements as a whole arc 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 1o issue an auditor' s report that 
includes my opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not abso lute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with general ly accepted auditing 
standards and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional om1ss10ns, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material ifthere 
is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would innuence the judgement 
made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government 
Auditing Standards, I: 

❖ Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism tl1roughout the audit. 
❖ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial Statements, whether due 

to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. 

❖ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed. 

❖ Evaluate the appropriateness or accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as eva luate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

❖ Conclude whether, in my judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the City's ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 

I am required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing ofthe audi1, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related 
matters that I identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Jnformatiofl 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Required 
Supplementary Informatio n, which includes the Management's Discussion and Analysis and the 
Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability (Asset) and the Schedule of Conlributions to the 
Employee Pension Plan and t.he Schedule or Changes in Total Liability and Related Ratios, be 
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of 
management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential pan of financial reporting for placing 
the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, cconomfo, or historical contcX'"t. I have 
applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary info11nation in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
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consistency with management's responses to my inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge I obtained during my audit of the basic financial statements. I do not express an opinion or 
provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide me with 
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Supplementary Information 

My audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opm1011s on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the City' s basic financial statements. The supplementary infonnation section, as 
listed in the table of contents, is presented for purposes o f additional analysis and is not a required part 
of the basic financial statements. Such infonnation is the responsibility o f' management and was 
derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and c.>ther records used to prepare the 
basic financial statements. The information has been subjected Lo the auditing procedures applied in 
the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and 
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare 
the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance with audiling standards generally accepted in the United States of America. 
In my opinion, the supplementary in formation is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the 
basic financial statements as a whole. 

Other Information - Introductory Section 

Management is responsible for the l ntroductory Section included in the annual report. The Introductory 
Section, as listed in the table of contents, does not include the basic financial statements and my 
auditor's report thereon. My opinion on the basic financial statements docs nol cover the Introductory 
Section, and I do not express an opinion or any other assurance thereon. 

In connection with my audit of the basic financial statements, my responsibility is to read the 
Introductory Section and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the Introductory 
Section and basic financial statements, or the Introductory Section otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated . If, based on the work perfo rmed, I conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of 
the Introductory Section exists, I am required to describe it in my report. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, 1 have also issued my report dated December 8, 
2023, on my consideration of the City' s internal control over linancial repo11ing and on my tests of its 
cornpliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other 
matters. "I 'he purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of my testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the resu Its of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City ' s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an 
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing SLandards in considering 
the City's internal control over financial rcpo11ing and compliance. 

December 8, 2023 

J 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 

As management of the City of Loretto, Tennessee (the City) we offer readers of the City's financial 
statements this narrative overview and ana.lysis of the fi.nanciaJ activities of the City for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2023. The analysis focuses on significant financial position, budget changes 
and variances from the budget, and specific issues related to funds and the economic factors 
affecting the City. Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) focuses on current year 
activities and resulting changes. 

Financial Highlights: 

The assets of the City of Loretto exceeded its liabilities at the close of the most recent fiscal year 
by $7_,871,652. Of this amount, $1,262,441 (unrestricted net position) may be used to meet the 
government's ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. 

The government's total net position increased by $626.890, as the City' s grant revenues increased 
as compared to the prior year. The City' s total revenues increased $823,837 due to increases in 
grant revenues and user-related revenues from increased usage. Expenses were higher in the 
current year due to increased grant activities. The governmental funds showed an increase in net 
position of $82,684 due to increased revenues. As of the close of the current fiscal year, the City's 
govcnunental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $522,846. 

At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance of the General Fund was $330,004 
or 21% of the total general fund expenditures. 

The City's business-like activities total net position increased by $544,206 due to increased grant 
revenues. 

The City 's total debt decreased by $131,120 as the City borrowed for several capital asset 
purchases. The City paid $219,143 to reduce governmental debt and $120,712 to reduce enterprise 
fund debt. i\JI of the City's debt is paying as scheduled. 

Overview of the Financial Statements: 

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City of Loretta's basic 
.financial statements. The City's basic -financial statements comprise three components: (1) 
government-wide fmancial statements, (2) fund financial statements, and (3) notes to the financial 
.statements. This report also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic 
financial statements. 
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Government-wide financial statements. The government-wide financial statements are designed 
to provide readers with a broad overview of the City 's finances, in a manner similar to a private­
sector business. TI1e Statement of Net Position presents information on all the City's assets and 
liabilities. with the difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or 
decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the 
City is improving or deteriorating. The Statement of Activities presents information showing how 
the government's net position changed dw-ing the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net 
position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless 
of the timing ofrelated cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in tbis statement for 
some items that wi1l only result in cash .flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected tax). Both 
of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of U1e City lhat are principally 
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions 
that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges 
(business-type activities). The governmental activities of the City of Loretto include general 
government, personnel, finance, parks, planningt police, fire. disposal service; streets and public 
works. The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 11-12 of this report. 

A Fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain conu·ol over resources that have 
been segregated from specific activities or objectives. The City of Loretto, like other state and 
local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance­
related legal requirements. All of the funds of the City are governmental funds. Governmental 
FW1ds are funds used to account for essentially the same func!ions reported as governmental 
activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unJike the government-wide 
financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and 
outflows of resources, as well as on balances of resources available at the end of the fiscal year. 
Such information may be useful in evaluating a government's near-term financing requirements. 
Because lhe focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmcnta.l activities in the govcmmcnt-wide frnancial statements. 
By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government's near-term 
financing decisions. Both 1hc governmental fund balance sheet and governmental fund statement 
of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this 
comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities. 

The City maintains two individual governmental funds and three proprietary fonds. lnfonnation is 
presented separately in the governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund 
statemcnl of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the funds all of which are 
considered to be major funds. 

The City of Loretto adopts an annual appropriated budget for its general fund. A budgetary 
comparison statement has been provided for thl! general fund to demonstrate compliance with this 
budget. The basic financial statements can be found on pages 14-25 of this report. 
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The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data 
provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the financial 
statements can be found on pages 27-52 of this report. 

Financial Analysis of the Financial Statements --Government-wide Financial Analysis 

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government's financial 
position. In the case of the City ofLoretto's assets exceeded liabilities by $7,871,652 at the close 
of the most recent fiscal year. 

By far the largest portion of the City's assets reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., land, 
buildings, machinery, equipment, and infrastructure) less any related debt used to acquire those 
assets that is still outstanding. The City uses these capital assets to provide services to citizcnsi 
consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. /\llhough the City 's investment in 
its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to 
repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves carmot be 
used to liquidate these liabilities. 

Financial Analysis of the Financial Statements - City of Loretto's Net Position - 2022 

CwTent and other assets 
Capital assets 
Total assets 

Deferred outflows 

Long-term liabilities outstanding 
Other liabilities 
Total liabilities 

Deferred inflows 

Net position: 
Net investment in capital assets 

Restricted 
Unrestricted 

Total net position 

Governmental 
Activities 

$ 857.259 
1.778,930 
2,636,189 

163,010 

625,517 
87.856 

713,383 

1,153,403 
160,872 
421,453 

$1,735,728 

6 

Business -Type 
Activities 

1,414,869 
5.8J?.1 77 
7_,227,046 

169,661 

1,275,063 
144,608 

1,419,671 

438_,002 

4,537,114 
130,181 
871,739 

5,539,034 



Financial Analysis of the Financial Statements - City of Loretto's Net Position - 2023 

Current and other assets 
Capital assets 
Total assets 

Deferred outflows 

Long-term liabilities outstanding 
Other liabilities 
Total liabilities 

Deferred inflows 

Net position: 
Net investment in capital assets 

Restricted 
Unrestricted 

Total net position 

Governmental 
Activities 

$ 704.559 
1,681.454 
2,386,013 

239,3 I 1 

560,118 
105,347 
665,465 

171,447 

1,121,336 
188,025 
479,051 

$1,788,412 

Business -Type 
Activities 

1.035.525 
6.453.333 
7.488,858 

249,078 

1,239,352 
100,098 

1,339,450 

315,246 

5,213,981 
85,869 

783,390 
6,083,240 

At the end to the current fiscal year, the City is able to report positive balances in all categories of 
net position, both for the government as a whole, as well as for its separate governmental and 
business-type activities. The same situation held true for the prior year. 

Financial Analysis of the Financial Statements 

As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance 
related legal requirements. 

Governmental Funds 
The focus of the City of Loretta's governmental funds is to provide information on near-term 
inflows, outflows and balances of resources. Such info1mation is useful in assessing the City's 
financing requirements, in particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure to a 
government's net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 

The general fund is the chief operating fund of the City. At the end of the current fiscal year, 
unassigned fond balance of the general fund was $330,004. As a measure of the general fund's 
liquidity, it may be useful to compare both unassigned fund balance and total fund balance to total 
fund expenditures. Unassigned fund balance represents 21 % of total general fund expenditures. 
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Comparison of revenues and expenses 2022 and 2023 

2023 2022 Variance 

Revenues: 
Property taxes 172,928 132,469 40,459 
Sales taxes 944,241 908,834 35,407 
Beer and liquor taxes 114,177 114,801 (624) 
Income and excise taxes 609 1,147 (538) 
Miscellaneous 68,438 56,100 12,338 
Charges for services 2,060,456 1,914,087 146,369 
Operating contributions 81,431 85,823 (4,392) 
Capital contributions 694,720 99,902 594,818 

Total Revenues $4,137,000 $3,313,163 $823 ,837 

Expenses: 
General government 396,621 343,265 53 ,356 
Police department 463,525 452,643 10,882 
Fire department 74,761 79,130 (4 ,369) 
Public works 72,942 61,545 11,397 
Parks and culture 455,732 351,459 104,273 
Water and Sewer Fund 1,170,193 978,805 191,388 
Natural Gas 709,388 666 ,947 42,441 
Sanitation 166,948 151 ,185 15,763 

Total Expenses $3,510,110 $3,084,979 $425,131 

Change in Net Position 626,890 228,184 398,706 
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Governmental Budgetary Highlights 

The City maintained its expenditure budgets during the year. See pages 2J -25 for further 
information about these individual fund budgets. 

Capital Assets 
The City of Loretta's investment in capital assets from its governmental activities at June 30, 2023, 
amounts to $1,681,454 (net of accwnulatcd depreciation) and its business-type activities amounts 
to $6.453,333. This investment in l;apital assets is in land, buildings, improvements, machinery 
and equipment. There was no increase in the City's investment in capital assets for the current 
fiscal year. 

City of Loretto's Capital Assets 

Land, buildings and improvement 
Equipment and utility plant 
Less accumulated depreciation 
Net Capital Assets 

Governmental 
Activities 

$ 2,974,631 
845,614 

(2,138,791) 
$ 1,681.454 

Business-Type 
Activities 

137,509 
13,185,779 
(6,869,955) 
6,453,333 

Additional information on the City of Loretta's capital assets can be found in the notes to the 
financial statements section of this report. 

Long-Term Debt 

The City has governmental long-term debt of $560.118 and utility long-Lenn debt totaling 
$1,239,352 which was used to make improvements to the utiJity system. TI1e City's total debt 
decreased by $131,120 as the City borrowed for several capital asset purchases. The CHy paid 
$219,143 to reduce governmental debt and $120,712 to reduce enterprise fund debt See pages 60-
64 for additional information. 

Economic Factors and Next Year's Budget and Rates 

In the 2023-2024 budget, General fund revenues are budgeled to increase from Lhe 2022-2023 
budget year primarily due to increases in local revenues and the state shared revenues. TI,e City's 
bu(:igct has grown by an increasing commercial and retail base producing higher local sales tax 
receipts. The City's Utility fund budget will not change significantly from the previous year. 

All of these factors were considered in preparing the City's budget for the 2023-2024 fiscal year. 
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Requests for Information 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City of Loretto, Tennessee's 
:finances for all those with an interest in the government's finances. Questions concerning any of 
the information provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should be 
addressed to: 

Jesse Turner 
City of Loretto 
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BASIC FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 



Cash and casn equ;valents 

Certificates of Depos~ 

Receivables 

Internal balances 

Prepaid assets 

Inventory 

Capital assets not befng depreciated 

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreolation 

Total Assets 

Deferred Outflows of Resources: 
Deferred outflows of resources - OPEB 
Deferred outflows of resource& • pension 

Total Deferred Outflows or Resources 

LiebTiijies, Deferred Inflows and Net Pos~lo11 

Llabiltties: 
Accounts payable 
Accrued expenses 
Total OPEB Llablllty 
Nel pension llabllity 
Long-term liabililJes: 
Due wahln one year 
Due rti more than one yea1 

Total liabllities 

Deferred Inflows of Resou/ces; 
Deferred inflows of resources • property la~ 
Deferred inflows of resources - unspent grant recelpls 
Deferred innows of resources • OPES 
Deferred inflows cl resources - pension 

Total Oefeired Inflows of Resources 

Net Position; 
Net Investment In Capital Assets 
Restricted - Debt Service 
Re5tricted - Stata street aid fund 
Unrestricted 

Total Net Posttion 

CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Statement of Net Position 

June 30, 2023 

Governmental 
Activities 

278,792 

61,086 

239,917 

119,947 

4,817 

0 

172,185 

1,509,269 

2,386,013 

6,452 
232,859 
zi!!.§11 

17,170 
52,463 

9,560 
26.154 

100,960 
459,158 
8ti5.465 

137,050 
0 

15,849 
18.548 

171 ,447 

1,121 ,336 
0 

188,025 
479,051 

1.788.412 

See accompanying notes to ffnancial statements 
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Business-type 
Act!Vitles Total 

815,134 1,093,926 

99,2A9 160,335 

130,668 370,585 

(11 9,947) 0 

3,836 8,653 

106,585 106,585 

888,283 1,060,468 

5,565,050 7 074 319 

7 488,858 9,874871 

6,715 13,167 
242,363 
249,0?li 

415,222 
4'f!8 ,389 

26,729 43,899 
36,197 88,660 

9,950 19,510 
27,222 53,376 

122,037 222,997 
1.117315 1,576,473 
1,335,450 2,004,915 

0 137,050 
279,445 279,445 

16,496 32,345 
19,305 37 ,853 

315,2A8 485 693 

5,213,98 t 6,335,31 7 
85,869 85,869 

0 188,025 
783.390 1,262,.441 

6,083,240 1,ij"IJ ,6'52 



F unctjon/Proorams 

Government Aclivlt1es: 
General government 
Police department 
Fire depar1ment 
Public works 
Swimming pool 
Park, and recreation 
Ubrafy 
H[ghway and slreel5 

Total Governmental ActMHes 

Busfness - type Activities: 
Water and Sewer Fund 
Natural gas fund 
Solid Waste fund 

Total Business Type Activities 

Total 

CITY OF LORETTO, i ENNESSEE 

Statement of Actlvftles 

For tl'le Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Prog[i![D Bev~ues 
Operating Capital 

Chargeslor Grants and Grants and 
Expenses Serv1ces Qg!ll[lbul!on~ Contc!l1M!ioos 

396,621 50,180 21,546 0 
463,525 40,393 0 0 
74,761 0 0 0 
72,942 0 0 0 
69,147 63,271 a 0 

381 ,727 37,980 0 0 
4,858 0 0 0 

0 9,963 59885 0 
1,463,581 201 ,787 81,431 0 

1,170,193 920,776 0 694 ,720 
709,38B 765,772 0 0 

66 9'!8 112.121 0 0 
2.Q46.529 l,858,669 0 694,720 

3,510.110 2,060,456 81,43 694.720 

General Revenues: 
Property taxes 
Public utlllty ta,es 
SaJes laxes 
Beer and II quor taxe$ 
franchise ta~es 
Buslriess laJ(es 
State [ncome and excise taxes 
Interest ,income 
Ottier 

Total general revenues 

Changes in Net Position 

Ne! Posttion • beginning or year 

Re~lalerneot 

Net Posltlon - beginning of year, as restaled 

Net posllion • enalng ofYear 

See atcompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Nel (fapenses) Revenue and 
Changes In Net Position 

Governmental Business-Ty~ 
Acllvtties Acthlltles ~ 

(324,1195) 0 (324,895) 
(423,132) 0 (423,132) 

(74,761) 0 {74,761) 
(72,'942) 0 (72,942) 

(5,876) 0 (5,876) 
(343,747) 0 (343,747) 

(4,858) 0 (4 ,858) 
89 848 0 69848 

(1 ,180,363) 0 (1, 180,363) 

0 445,303 445,303 
0 56,384 56,384 
0 5 173 5173 
0 506,860 506 860 

(1, 80,363) 506,880 (673,503) 

144,991 0 144.991 
27,937 0 27,937 

883.775 0 883,775 
114,177 0 114,177 

15,189 0 15,189 
45,277 0 45,777 

609 0 609 
1,441 25,869 27,110 

29,651 11,67, 41 32.6 
1,283,047 37,348 1,3001393 

82684 544,206 626,890 

1,735.728 S,SjS,034 7,274,762 

(30,000) 0 (30,000) 

1,705,7211 5 ,539,034 7,244,762 

1 :788.412 !i,083,24O 7,871 .652 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cenificates of deposit 

Accounts receivable: 
Property taxes receivable 
Other governments 

Prepaid assets 

Due from other funds 

Total Assets 

Balance Sheet 

Governmental Funds 

June 30, 2023 

General 
Fund 

96,090 
61,086 

157,176 

144,005 
90,589 

234,594 

4,8 17 

119,947 

$516,534 

Liabiliti ·s, Deferred lnnm of Resomccsand Fund Balance 

Liabilities: 
Accounts payable $17 170 
Accrued expenses 20,538 

Total LiabiJitics 37.708 

Deferred Inflow of Resources: 
Deferred inflows • current property taxes 137,050 
Deferred inflows - deliquent property taxes 6 955 

Total Deferred Inflow of Resources 144,005 

Fund Balance: 
Non-spendable 4,817 
Unassigned 330,004 
Restricted 0 

Total Fund Balance 334,821 

Total Liabrtities, Deferred lnflows, and Fund Balance $516.534 

State Street 
Aid Fund 

182,702 

0 
182.702 

0 
5,323 
5,323 

0 

0 

$188,025 

0 
0 

0 

0 
0 
0 

0 
0 

188,025 
188,025 

$188,025 

The notes accompanying the financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Total 

278,792 
$61,086 
339,878 

144,005 
95,912 

239,917 

4,817 

119,947 

$704,559 

17,170 
20.538 

37.708 

137,050 
6,955 

144 005 

4,817 
330,004 
188.025 
522.846 



CITY OF LORli:TTO, TENNESSEE 

Reconciliation of the Balance Sbttl lo th~ Sta tement of Net Posit ion 
of Governmental Activities 

Ju ne JO, 2023 

Amoun(s feported for fund balance• total governmental funds 

Amounts reported for go\lernmental actJ\llties in the statement of net 
positjon are different because: 

Capital assets used in governmental activities ore not finanoiol 
resources and, therefore, are not report~d in the governmental funds 

Other long term assets arc not available to pay for currenl-perjod expenditures 
and therefore ore deFerred in the governmental funds 

Pcn~ion related accounts - governmental funds to not record ttie se post-benefit 
obligations 

Net pension liability 
Deferred outnow - pension 
Deferred inflow - pension 

OPEB related ~ccou111,:; - governmental funds \o no\ rei:ortJ these post-benefit 
obligatfons-

Total OPEB l1abi li1y 
Deferred outflow - OPEB 
Deferred inllow - OPEB 

tong-term liabilities, including bonds payable are not due and payable in tn~ 
current period and thereforeare nol recorded in the funds 
Accrued vacation expense 
Long-tenn debt 

Net Positi011 of governmental activities 

Se~ accornp•nying notes to financial slalemems. 
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s 

l,681,454 

6,955 

(26, 154) 
232,859 
(18.548) 

(9,560) 
6,4>2 

(] 5,849) 

(31,925) 
(360.1 I 8) 

1,783,412 



CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fun<.I Balanc.e 
Governmental Funds 

Revenues: 
Taxes 
Intergovernmental 
Fines and fees 
Miscellaneous 

Total 1evenues 

Expenditures: 
General government 
Police departmenl 
Fire department 
Public works 
Swimming pool 
Parks nnd recreatitJn 
Library 
Capitol outlay: 
Police department 
Debt service: 
Principal 
Interest 

Total expenditures 

12xcess (deficiency) of revenues 
over expenditures 

Other financing sources: loan proceeds 

Net change in fun balance 

Fund balance beginning of year 

Fund balance, end of year 

f'oT the Year Ended J une 30, 2023 

General State Street 
Fund id f und 

994,234 0 
245,907 56,699 
141,824 0 
Hl6, 17 684 

Sf,-1-88 882 7, 83 

360,981 0 
439,528 0 
48, 159 0 
72,942 0 
69,147 0 

318,307 0 
4,858 0 

40,948 0 

219,143 0 
21 973 0 

$1,59. ,986 so 

t107.1041 57,383 

123,734 0 

16,630 57,383 

318, 191 130,642 

$334,821 

Sec accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Tot.al 
Governmental 

Funds 

994,234 
302/i06 
141,824 
1071601 

$1 46,265 

360,981 
439,528 

48,159 
72,942 
69,147 

318,307 
4,858 

40,948 

219,)43 
21,973 

Sl,595,986 

(49,721) 

123,734 

74,013 

448,833 

522,846 



CITY OF LORETTO, TENNES EE 

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in, Fund Balance 
of Govemmentlll Funds to the Statement of Activities 

For the Year Ended June JO, 2023 

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds : 

Amounts reported for governmental ec11v1ties in the statement of net 
position afe ditrereot because: 

Revenues in the statement ofaclivities that do not provide current financial resources 
are n01 reported as revenues in the funds. 

Govcmmuntal limds repon capital outlays as c.~pcndlturcs, Howe •r, in the 51 tc111cn1 
of n 11v1t1cs the c1 st of !hose assets Is nllocn1cd over !heir csthnn1ed useful hvc~ and 
reported as deprecia1jon expense. 

Acquisition of capital assets 
DeprcciaLioo e1-pense 

Liabilities 1101 reported in the governmental fund-change in accrued vacation liability 

Liabilities not reported in the gover111nental fund - chonge in pension plan 11ccrual 

Liabilities not reponed in the governmental Fund - change in post retirement beneti1S linbll il) 

Revenues reported in the statement of activities lhal increase long-term debt 

E"pc11scs rc1wncu in thes1atc1111:nl ofnc1iv,11es thllLdo nOI n.oquire the use of'current 
linanc1nl ro~ources are not rcpon.:u n~ expenditures in the governmental funds 

Debt principal payments 

Change in Net Position of governmental activities 

See accompanying no1es to financial stacerneats. 
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s 

74,0lJ 

6,9S5 

40,948 
(138,414) 

(1 ,764) 

2,178 

3,369 

(123.734) 

219,143 

82,684 



CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Statemenl or Net Po,ilion 

Enl•rprise Funds 

Jun• 30, 2023 

\Varer and Nan,ral Gas 
Sower Pllnd Fu11d 

-b QII orl!l lll,\C~W!l Q111Dnw~ 

Cum:m Assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents $508,096 $244,948 
Cet1ifica1es or Depo,it 99,249 0 
Customer ae<:0u111s receivable, net of allowance 92,6 17 22,971 
Pn:p,1id assets 1,793 2,043 
Due from other funds 0 7,632 
Inventory ~9..12 1 17,161 

1'otal Currcnl Assets 79l.119 294,755 

Capil•I Assers: 
C1pital assels in service 12,130,236 ,882,34 1 
Less aecumulotcd depredation ((,)1,7,11.!) I 1,2.~MJ 
To1el Copftal Assets, Nc1 5.'163,0li I 339,477 

Tolol AsM:ls S&.75 I ::!.~J W•l.231 

Deferred outllows: 
Deferred our!lows of resources - OPEB 3,l)_g :?,no 
Deferred outflows of resources- pensron 1011,301 kS,S,10 

Tora! Deferred Outflows 112.329 S87.9JO 

.IJnl.ulilil,s; 

Current Liabilities: 
At<:ot1nts p~yablc 19,792 6,937 
Accrued CJC)1Cll5~~ 19,514 I 0,339 
Nd OPEO LiQbllity 4,487 3,5 12 
Due lo other funds 107.130 20,~49 
Cun-enl maturities - long•lenn dcul l!.~I• J9.!M(I 

Toca I CU1Tenl Liabilities _?l,7J6 Hl,183 

Olher Uabillt1'es: 
Net pension linbiliry l!.27(, '"608 

Total Other Liobiltties l:?.]76 ?,60H 

Long-T cnn Debi '121>,925 1>51008 

TOI! I Li abilities l,162,9:'.i7 135,1159 

Deferred Inflows; 
Deferred in flow of rcsolrrces • unspenl grant receipts 279,445 0 
Deferred io0ow of resources - OPES 1,439 5,822 
Deferred inflow of resmirces • pension 8.644 6,814 

Total Defc,retl ln(low, 295,528 12,636 

Net Position: 
Net inves1ment in capitol llssets 4,963,326 231\,4(13 
Restricted- Debt service SS,869 0 
Unrcs1rictcd 358,912 319,1 84 

Tolol Nel Posrrion 5.-IOR,IO? 553,647 

The not,c, occomponying the fi11a11cial sra1emenls ore an integral part oflhese fi11anc1al statcmenls. 
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Saniratlon 
fllnd Total 

S62.090 815,134 
0 99.249 

IS,0Kl'l 130,668 
f) J,836 
t) 7,632 
(i 106,585 

71.17C. 1,163.10 1 

310,711 13,323,288 
( 15'l,91'1) r,J6!/.'.)S5J 
1 0.792 6,,t53i)JJ 

_7,%2 S7,616. m 

1,317 6,7 )5 
~7.522 2112,363 

$48,839 $249,078 

0 26,729 
6,344 36,197 
1,951 9,950 

0 127,579 
25,900 IJ1!. S9 
34,195 JJll.11 

5.338 n.m 
5,338 _7,'ll! 

Iii .70\1 l.lll0M3 

IIM,:m 1,167,ill'J 

0 279,445 
J,:m 16.496 
J,847 11>,J0S 
7.082 315)..16 

16, 192 5;213,981 
0 85,869 

105,294 783,390 

121,486 6,083,240 



Operating Revenues; 
Service fee 
Tap and connection fees 
Other income 

Total Operating Revenues 

Operating Expenses: 
Salaries 
Payroll laxes 
Employee benefits 
Training and trnvel 
Utilities 
Professional services 
Natural gas purchased 
Repair and maintenance 
Supplies 
Office expense 
Dues subscriptions and fees 
Vehicle expense 
Rent 
Insurance 
Miscellaneous 
Depreciation 

Total Operating Expenses 

Oporating income (loss) 

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)t 
Interest income 
Insurance recoveries 
Sale of assets 
Interest expense 

CITY OF LORETTO, Tl!:NNESSEE 

Statement of Revenues, E11:penses 
and Changes in Net Position 

E nterprise Funds 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Water and 
Sewer P'und 

$869,887 
50,889 

0 
920,776 

240.427 
16,004 
41,388 

4,174 
148,.437 

3 216 
0 

82,7 10 
154, 176 

11, 160 
7 313 

19,962 
40,000 
47,493 
16,767 

3 12,871 
1, 146,098 

{Z25. 2) 

21 ,595 
4,500 
7,177 

(!4, 9 ) 
Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 9. 177 

Capital contributions 694,720 

Nel: change in position 478,575 

Net rosition, July 1, 2022 4,929.532 

Net Position, June 30, 2023 $5,408,107 

Natw·al Gas 
Fund 

5752,357 
13,415 

0 
765.772 

191,525 
15,790 
46,533 

5, 112 
3,781 
4-,576 

322,086 
18,998 
27,817 

9,268 
2,287 
9 873 

10,000 
16,071 

0 
24.330 

708,047 

57.725 

3,986 
0 
O· 

( 1,341) 
2,645 

0 

60,370 

493,277 

$553,647 

The notes accompanying the tinanoial statements are an integral part of these financial sratemencs. 
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Sanitation 
Fund Total 

$170,630 S! , 792,874 
0 64,304 

1,491 1.491 
J72.121 1,1158,669 

86,301 518,253 
7,614 39.408 

11,658 99,579 
0 9,286 

7,046 159,264 
1,070 8,862 

0 322,086 
10,573 112.281 

844 182,837 
1,308 21,736 

0 9,600 
16,967 46,802 

0 50,000 
0 63,564 
0 16,767 

20,695 357,896 
164,076 2,018,221 

8.045 {159 552) 

88 25,669 

0 4,500 
0 7.177 

{:?.87-) ( 8.306) 
(2,784) 9.038 

0 694,720 

5,261 544,206 

J 16.225 5,539,034 

$121,486 6.083.2110 



CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Statement of Cash Flows 

Enterprise Fund Types 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Water and Natural 
Sewer Fund Gas Fund 

Cash Flows from Operating Actfvitles: 
Cash received from customers 910,597 762 ,660 
Cash paid to suppliers (396,59·3) (444, 696) 
Cash paid to employees (297,819) (253,848) 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 216,185 64,116 

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities.: 
Acquisition of capital assets (929,608) (69,444) 
Capital contributions 694,720 0 
Interest paid (24,095) (1 ,341) 
Loan proceeds 46,487 38,514 
Repayment of debt {62,8~2) (32,500} 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Capital and Financing Activities (275,308) (64,771} 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities: 
Redemption (purchase) of certificale of deposit (535) 0 
Interest received 21,595 3,986 

Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities. 2 ,060 3,986 

Net Change in Cash !18,063! 3,331 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, July 1, 2022 546,1 59 241 ,617 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, June 30, 2023 508.096 244,948 

Reconciliation ofOperaUng Income to Net Cash 
Provided (Used) by Operatfng Activfties 

Operating income (loss) (225,322) 57 ,725 
Adjustments to ~ec0ncile operating income to net cash 

provided (used} by operating activities: 
Depreciation 312,871 24,330 
Sale of assets 7,177 0 
Insurance proceeds 4,500 0 
Change in assets (increase) decrease: 

Receivables (10,1 79} (3 ,112) 
Inventory (14;939) 953 
Due from other funds 4,655 0 
Prepaid assets 1,065 ,Q 

Deferred outflows (35,815) (28,029) 
Net pension asset 107,617 84,222 

Change in liabilities increase (decrease): 
Total. OPEB liability (2,830) (2,214) 
Net pension liability 12,276 9,608 
Accounts payable (13,527) (10,715) 
Accrued expenses (10,124) (23,478) 
Due to other funds 99,498 20,449 
Deferred inflows (20,738! (65,623) 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 21 6.185 64,116 

Sanitation 
Fund 

170,206 
(46,492) 

{1 05,573} 
18,141 

0 
0 

(2,872) 
0 

(25,400} 
(28,272) 

0 
88 
88 

(10,043) 

72,133 

62,090 

8,045 

20,695 
0 
0 

(1 ,915) 
0 
0 
0 

(15,573) 
46,790 

(1,230) 
5,338 

(7,614) 
,0 

0 
(36,395) 
18. 141 

See accompanying no!es to the financial statements. 
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Tot?! 

1,843,463 
(887,781 ) 
(657,240) 
298,442 

(999,052) 
694,720 
(28,308) 
85,001 

{120,71 2) 
(368,351 ), 

(535) 
25,669 
25,134 

(44,775) 

859,909 

815,1 34 

(1 59,552) 

357 ,896 
7,177 
4,500 

(1 5,206) 
(1 3,986) 

4,655 
1,065 

(79,417) 
238,629 

(6,274) 
27,222 

(31 ,856) 
(33,602) 
119,947 
(86,361) 
298,442 



CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures 
and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget (GAAP Basis) and Actual 

General Fund 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Variance with 
Final Budget 

Original Final Positive 
Budget Budget Actual (Negative) 

Revenues: 
Taxes: 

Property taxes $139,000 $139,000 $144,991 5,991 
Public utility taxes 0 0 7,029 7,029 
Local sales tax 602,000 602,000 668,365 66,365 
Local beer and llquor tax 116,000 116,000 109,840 (6,160) 
Mixed drink tax 3,000 3,000 3,543 543 
Franchise taxes 17,000 17,000 15,189 (1,811) 
Business taxes 51 ,500 51 ,500 45,277 (61223) 

Total Taxes ~28,500 928,500 994,234 65,734 

Intergovernmental: 
TVA in lieu 26,000 26,000 20,908 (5,092) 
State sales tax 185,000 185,000 215,410 30,410 
State beer tax 0 0 794 794 
State income tax 0 0 609 609 
State special petroleum tax 3,000, 3,000 3,186 186 
Grants 0 0 5,000 5,000 
Corporate excise tax 1,000 1,000 0 {1,000) 

Total Intergovernmental Revenue 215,000 215,000 245,,907 30,907 

Fines and fees: 
Swimming pool 42,000 42,000 63,271 21,271 
Police fines 70,000 70,000 40,393 (29,607) 
Parks and recreation 67,500 67,500 37,980 (29,520) 
Other fines and fees 3,000 3,000 180 {2,820) 

Total Fines and Fees 182,500 182,500 141 ,824 {40,676) 

Miscellaneous: 
Rent 50 ,000 50,000 50,000 0 
Insurance recoveries 10,000 10,000 9,763 (237) 
Street maintenance contracts 10,000 10,.000 9,963 (37) 
Donations 20,000 20,000 16,546 (3,454) 
Sale of assets 20,000 20,000 14,453 (5 ,547) 
Miscellaneous 550,500 550.500 6,192 (544,308) 

Total Mfscellaneous Revenue 660 500 660,500 106,917 {553,583~ 

Total Revenues 1,986,500 1,986,500 1!488,882 (497 ,618) 

The notes accompanying the financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements. 

21 



CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures 
and Changes in Fund Balance • Budget (GAAP Basis) and Actual, Continued 

General Fund 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Variance with 
Final Budget 

Original Final Positive 
Budget Budget Actual (Negative} 

Expenditures: 
General Government: 
Current: 

Salaries 136,320 155,010 148,573 6,437 
Payroll taxes 10,430 9,135 9,135 0 
Employee benefits 29 ,800 11 ,495 11.495 0 
Utilities 6,000 7,050 19,766 (12,716), 
Professional services 11 ,000 26,300 43,370 (17,070) 
Office supplies 3,000 3,090 9,854 {6,764) 
Supplies 15,000 21,000 35,611 (14,61 1) 
Public relation 12,500 15,500 15,488 12 
Travel and training 5,000 6,225 12,654 (6,429) 
Insurance 5,000 3,750 6,243 (2,493) 
Dues and subscriptions 3,500 7,445 7 ,444 1 
Repair and maintenance 25,600 44,020 41 ,348 2,672 
Donations 7,500 0 0 0 
Miscellaneous 21 ,400 100 0 100 

292,050 310,120 360,981 (50 ,861) 
Debt service 244,708 156,787 156,787 0 
Capital outlay 0 58 ,995 0 58,995 

Total General Government 5 36,758 525,902 517,768 8,1 34 

Public Safety: 
Police Department: 
Current: 
Salaries 277,200 277,600 283 ,884 (6,284) 
PayroU taxes 20,675 18,800 18,741 59 
Employee benefits 50,000 60 ,250 40,311 19,939 
Insurance 20,000 20 ,000 20,000 0 
Vehicle expense 20,000 18,750 18,692 58 
Supplies 33 ,000 55 ,550 55,346 204 
Miscellaneous 0 3,420 21554 866 

420,875 454 ,370 439,528 14,842 
Debt service Q, 0 23,616 (23,616) 
Capital outlay 4,000 45 ,671 40,948 4,723 

Total Police Department 424,875 500,041 504,092 {4,051 ) 

The notes accompanying the financial statements are an in1egral part of these financial statements. 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures 
and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget (GAAP Ba.sis) and Actual, Continued 

Fire Department 
Current: 

Salaries 
Supplies and maintenance 
Insurance 
Miscellaneous 

Debt service 
Total Fire Department 

Public Works: 
Street lighting 
Maintenance and supplies 

Capital outlay 
Total Public Works 

Swlmming Pool: 
Salaries 
Payroll taxes 
Employee benefits 
Uti lities 
Maintenance and supplies 
Miscellaneous 

Capital outlay 
Total Swimming Pool 

General Fund 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Original 
Budget 

14,000 
30,000 
7,500 

0 
51 ,500 

0 
51 ,500 

60,000 
0 

60,000 
0 

60,000 

31 ,000 
3,000 
1,000 

19,800 
18,000 

200 
73,000 

0 
73,000 

Final 
Budget 

34,700 
10,675 

1,985 
47,360 
29,498 
76,858 

65,500 
175 

65,675 
0 

65,675 

34,850 
2,550 

100 

27,200 
1,185 

65,885 
3,500 

69,385 

Actual 

2,061 
37,222 

8,876 
0 

48,159 
28,648 
76,807 

65,499 
7,443 

72,942 
0 

72,942 

38,401 
2,546 

96 
195 

27,909 
0 

69,147 
0 

69,147 

Variance with 
Final Budget 

Positlve 
(Negative) 

(2,061 ) 
(2,522) 
1,799 
1,985 
(799) 
850 

51 

1 
{7,268) 
(7,267) 

0 
{7,267) 

(3,551) 
4 
4 

(195) 
(709) 

1,1 85 
(3,262) 
3,500 

238 

The notes accompanying the financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Statement of Revenues Expenditures 
and Changes in Fund Balance • Budget (GAAP Basis) and Actual, Continued 

General Fund 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Variance with 
Final Budget 

Original Final Positive 
Budge1 Budge! Actual ,Negative) 

Parks and Recreation: 
Salaries 65,000 57,975 58,276 (301} 
Payroll taxes 4,200 3,900 3,878 22 
Employee benefits 12,500 18,400 18,940 (540) 
Vehicle expense 5,000 3,700 4,023 (323) 
Insurance 18,500 20,000 19,929 71 
Concessions 32,000 13,500 13,364 136 
Materials and supplies 55,500 132,516 133,060 (544) 
Repa1r and maintenance 0 15,875 8,876 6,999 
Utilities 40,000 59,650 57,791 1,859 
Miscellaneous 0 745 170 575 

232,700 326,261 318.307 7,954 
Capital outlay 550,000 0 0 0 
Debt service 0 32,065 32.065 0 

Total Parks and Recreation 782.700 3581326 350,372 7,954 

Library: 
Utilities 2,500 3,200 3,197 3 
Supplies 1,500 905 903 2 
Insurance 350 ns 758 17 

4,350 4,880 4,858 22 
Capital outlay 0 0 0 0 

Total Llbrary 4,350 41880 4,858 22 

Total Expenditures 1,933,183 1,601 ,067 1,595,986 56,530 

Excess (deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures 53,317 385,433 (107,104) (441 ,088) 

Other financing sources: loan proceeds 80.000 80,000 123,734 43,734 

Net change in fund balance 133,317 465.433 16,630 (397,354) 

Fund Balance, July 1, 2022 318,191 318,191 318,191 0 

Fund Balance, June 30, 2023 451,508 783,624 334,821 (397,354) 

The notes accompanying the financial statements are an ihtegral part of these financial statements. 

24 



CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures 
and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual 

State Street Aid Fund 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Variance with 
Final Budget 

Original Final Positive 
Budget Budget Actual {Negative) 

Revenues: 
Intergovernmental: 
Gasoline .03 tax 7,120 7,120 8,973 1,853 
Gasoline 1989 tax 2,605 2,605 4,858 2,253 
Gasoline 2017 tax 15,275 15,275 15,681 406 
Gasoline and motor fuel 36,000 36,000 27,187 (8,813) 
Interest 0 0 684 684 

Total. Revenues 61 ,000 61,000 57,383 (3,61 7) 

Expenditures: 
Streets: 
Street lights 61,000 62 0 62 
Capit,11 Outlay 0 0 0 0 

Total Expenditures 61,000 62 0 62 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over expenditures 0 60,938 57,383 (3,555) 

Fund Balance, July 1, 2022 130,642 130,642 130,642 

Fund Balance, June 30, 2023 $130,642 $191,580 188,025 (3,555) 

The notes accompanying the financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2023 

(1) Summary of Significant Accouotiog Policies 

The City of Loretto, Tennessee ("the City'') was incorporated under Chapter 26 Provisions of House Bill 
No. 79 of 1985 as amended. The City operates under a Mayor a11d Board of AJdermen form of government 
and provides the following services as authorized by its cha1ier: public safety (police, fire, and street 
lighLing), highways and streets, water and sewer, natural gas, sanitation. culture-recreation, public 
improvements, planning and zonfog, and general administrative services. 

Reporting Entity: 

In evaluating the City as a reporting entity, management follows all applicable GASB statements and has 
addressed al I potential component lUl.its (traditionally separate reporting entities) for whjcb the City may he 
financially accountable and, as such. should be included within the City's financial statements. The City 
(the primary government) is financiaUy accountable if it appoints a voting. majority of the organization's 
governing board and ( 1) it is able to impose its will on tbe organization or (2) there is a potential for the 
organization to provide specific Gnancial benefir or to impose specific financial burden on the City. 
Additionally, lhe primary government is required to consider other organizations for which the nature and 
significance of their relationship with the p1imary government arc such that exclusion would cause the 
reporting entity's financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. The City has no component units al 
yearend. 

The financial statements now include govenunent-wide financial statements prepared on the accrual basis 
of accounting and the economic measurement focus for all funds. The fund financial statements present 
information for individuaJ major funds rather than by fund type. Nonmcl:JOr funds are presented in one 
column. TI1e reporting includes the reporting of capital assets, infrastructure and depreciation, the 
elimination of account gToups, and the inclusion of management· s discussion and analysis. 

The government-wide financial statements present the City's programs between business-type and 
governmental activities. 

Government -Wide and Fune! Financial Statements 

The Government-wide financial statements, the statement of Net Position and the statement of changes in 
Net Position, report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the primary government. For the 
most part, the effect of the interfund activity has been removed from these statements. Government 
activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately 
from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support. 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2023 

(1) Summary of S ignificant Acconnting Policies, Continue.cl 

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or 
segment are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are lhose that are clearly identifiable with a 
specific function or segment. Program revenues include (i) charges to customers or applicants who 
purchase, use or directly benefit from goods. services. or privileges provided by a given funclioh or segment 
and (ii) grants and contributions that arc-restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a 
particular function or segment. Taxes and 0U1cr items not properly included among program revenues are 
reported as general revenues. 

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and enterprise funds. Major individual 
governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund 
financial statements. 

Mcasmement Focus. Basis o[ Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus 
and the accrual basis of accmmting, as are the enterprise fund financial statements. Revenues are recorded 
when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash 
flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar 
items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 

Governmental fund revenues are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the 
modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they become both measurable 
and collectable within the current period or soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current 
period. The government considers property taxes and most governmental revenues as available if received 
within 45 days of yearend. Expenditures are recorded generully when a liabi lity is incurred, as under accrual 
accounting. However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences 
and claims and judgments are recorded only when payment is due. 

Property taxes, state shared revenues, and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all considered 
to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period using the 
criteria specified in the paragraph above. All other revenue items are considered to be measurable and 
available only when cash is received by the government. 

The government reports the following major funds: 

General Fund - The General Fund is the general operating fund of the City. It is used to account for all 
financial resources of the general government except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 

State Street Aid Fund - The State Street Aid Fund is used to account for the operations of the state shared 
gasoline revenues. 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2023 

(1) Summarv of Significant Accounting Polides, Continued 

The government reports the followiog major enterprise funds: 

Water and Sewer Fund - This fund accounts for the activities of the water and sewer department, which 
operates and maintains a water distribution system for residents and businesses on a user charge basis. All 
activities necessary to provide this service are accounted for in such a manner as to show a profit or loss 
similar to comparable private enterprises. 

Natural Gas System Fund - This fund accounts for the activities of the natural gas department, which 
operates and maintains a gas system for residents and businesses on a user charge basis. All activilies 
necessary to provide this service are accounted for in such a manner as to show a profit or loss similar to 
comparable private enterprises. 

Sanitation Fund - This fund accounts for the activities of the sanitation department, which picks up garbage 
for residents and businesses on a user charge basis. All activities necessary to provide this service are 
accounted for in such a manner as to show a profit or loss similar to comparable private enterprises. 

The Enterprise funds are used to account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar 
to privaic business enterprises - where the intent of the governing body is that the costs (including 
depreciation) of providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or 
recovered primarily through user charges. 

As a general rule the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial 
statements. Exceptions to this general rule are payments- in-lieu taxes and other charges between the 
government's utilities and vru·ious other functions of the government. Elimination of these charges would 
distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the various functions concerned. 

Amounts reporled as program revenues include (j) charges to customers or applicants for goods, services, 
or privileges provided, (ii) operating grants and conlribulions, and (iii) capital grants and contributions. 
General revenues include all taxes and internaJly dedicated resources. 

Enterprise funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonopcrating_ items. Operating revenues 
and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection 
with a enterprise fund 's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of !he various utility 
funds are charges to customers for sales and services. The Utility Fund also recognize as operating revenue 
the porrion of tap fees intended to recover thr.: cosl of connecting new customers to the system. Operating 
e>q,cnscs for enterprise funds include the cost of sales and services. adminjstralive expenses, and 
depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non­
operating revenues and expenses. 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2023 

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Continued 

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City's policy to use restricted 
resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed. When unrestricted funds are used, the City 
uses committed, assigned then unassigned funds. 

Receivables and Payables 
Activity between funds that are representative of lending/ borrowing anangemcnts outstanding at the end 
of the fiscal year arc referred Lo as either due from/ due ro other fonds. (.i.e. the current portion ofinterfund 
loans). Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type activities 
are reported in the government-wide financial statements as internal balances. 

Advances between funds, as reported in the fw1d financial statements, are offset by a fund balance reserve 
account in applicable governmental funds to indicate that they are not available for appropriation and are 
not expendable available resources. All trade receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectiblc, 
if applicable. 

Deferred Outflows/ln.flows of Resources 
ln addition to assets, the Statement of Net Position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred 
out0ows of resourcc.s. This separate financial statement clement, deferred outflows of resources, represents a 
consumpLion or net position that applies lo a future pcriod(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of 
resources (expense/expenditure) until then. The government has two items (pension and OPEB) that 
qualifies for reporting in this category. 

In addition to liabilities, the Statement of Net Position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred 
in.flows of resources. This separate financial statement clement, defcn-ed inflows of resources, represents 
an acquisition of net position that applies to a future pcriod(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of 
resources (revenue) until that time. The government has items that qualify for reporting in this category. 
Accordingly, the items ru·e reporled in Lbe government-wide Statement orNet Position and the governmental 
fun<ls balance sheet. These revenues arc from the fol1owing sources: current and delinquent property taxes, 
which do not meet the availability criteria .in govenunental funds. These amounts are defencd and 
recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become available. Additionally, the 
government has three items (pension, OPEB, and unspent grant fonds) that qualilies for reporting in this 
category. 

Net Jlosition f low Assttmption 
Sometimes the government will fund outlays for a pru1icu(ar purpose from bolh restricted and unrestricted 
resources. In order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted - net position and unrestricted - net 
position in the government-wide and enterprise fund financial statements, a flow assumption must be made 
about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied. It is the City's policy to consider 
restricted - net position to have been depleted before unrestricted - net position is applied. 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2023 

(1) Summa1y of Significant Accounting Policies, Continued 

Property Tax 
Tue Ci Ly's property tax is levied each July 1 on the assessed value listed as of the prior January l for all real 
and personal property located in the City's legal boundaries. All City taxes on real estate are declared to be 
a lien on such realty from January 1 of the year assessments are made. 

Assessed values are established by the State of Tennessee at the following rates of appraised market value: 

Public Utility Property 55% 
Industrial and Commercial Property 
- Real 40% 
- Personal 30% 
Farm and Residential Property 25% 

Taxes were levied at a rate of $0.33 per $100 of assessed valuation for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. 
Payments may be made during the period from .July I Uu-ough November J. CurrenL tax collecLions of 
$13 l.890 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 were approximately 96 percent of the tax levy. Delinquent 
taxes are turned over to the County for collection as required by the City's Municipal Code. 

Capital Assets 
Capital assets, which include property, plant and equipment. and infrastructure assets consisting of certain 
improvements other U1an buildings. including roads. bTidgcs, streets and sidewalks. and drainage systems 
are repo1icd in the applicable governmental or business-type activities colwnns in Lhc government-wide 
financial statements. Capital assets arc defined by the government as assets witb an individual cost of $500 
and an estimated useful life in excess of three years. All capiiaJ ac;sets are valued al bistorical cost or 
estimated useful life in excess of three years. All capital assets are valued at historical cost or estimated 
historical cost, if actual historical cost is not available. Donated capital assets arc valued at their csLimatcd 
fair value on the date donated. The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of 
the asset or materially extend asset lives are not capitalized. lnterest incurred during the construction phase 
of capital assets of business-type activities is expensed when paid and thus not a part of the capitalized cost. 

Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives using the straight-line method. 

The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

Buildings 
Improvements 
Equipment 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Jw1e 30, 2023 

(1) ummary of ignificant Accounting Policies, Continued 

Jnventory 
lnv nlory of the Utility fund is alucd at cost. using the first in first out method. 1n cmory of all the 
go ernmental funds consists of e pcndable upplies held for consumption and are recorded at cost under 
the consumption method. 

ompensal d Absen s 
111e Hy s J olic p rmits employees to accumulat earned but unused annual (vacation) leave and sick 
da s. Annual l a c da may accumulat to a maximum of 20 day over lhe term of employment. ick days 
may accumulate to a maximum of 90 day er the term of crnplo. m nt. During th first ear of 
mploym nt, five vacation da s ar earn d fter ti1c first y ar ten vai ation days are earn d per y ar and 

"fter l n year f employment .fifte n vacation days are arned each ear. Twel si k da ar earn d each 
year. Upon terminatfon, employ rec ive pa mcnt fol' accwnulated annual leave da s. mp n at d 
absences will b Hquidated witb expendable financial resources. 

The City has accrued a liability for unused sick and vacation pay which is earned, but not taken by City 
employees. 

Balance Balance 
July I, Addi- Retire- June 30, 
2022 tions ments 2023 

Governmental activities 30,161 1,764 31,925 
Business-type activities 64,942 31,491 33,451 

Estimates 
'h preparation of finan ial tatemcn(s in conformity ith generally accepted a cow1ting prin iples 

requires management to make estimates and a<::sumption that a.ffe l the reported amounts of as ' ts and 
liabiliti s at the date of th financial statem nts nd the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 
the reporting pe1iod. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Pension 
for purposes o measuring the net pension liabjlily, defen-ed outflows of res urces and d fe1Tcd infl ws f 
resour es rel a ed to pensions, and pension expense. inform tion about the fiduciary net position of L rello s 
participati n in the Pt1bli l· mpl yec Rc1ir m nt Plan f th Tenn s ee n olid tcd R iircment ystcm 
(TCRS) and additions to/dedu tion from Lor tto s .fidu iary n t po ition ha e b en determined on the 
a.me basis as th y ar rep rlcd b th TCRS for lhe Publi Bmplo e Retirement Plan. For this purp 

benefits including refunds f employ -c contribution ) are r ognize when due and payable in accordance 
with the benefit terms of the Public ·mployee R tirement Plan of T RS. In e tments are re rled al fair 
value. 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2023 

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Continued 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of savings accounts, certificates of deposit with original 
maturities three months or less. 

Restricted Assets 
Certain proceeds of the Enterprise fund loans, as well as certain resources set aside for their repayment. are 
classified as restricted assets on their respective balance sheets because they are maintained in separate bank 
accounts and their use is either limited by applicable bond covenants or represent proceeds from bond issues 
that are restricted for use in construction. 

Long-term Obligations 
[n 1he government-wide financial statements, and enterprise fund types in t..hc fund financial statements. 
long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental 
activities, business-type activities, or enterprise fund type statement of Net Position. Debt issuance costs, 
such as insurance costs, fees and other related costs are recognized as an expense. 

In the fond, fi11ancial statements, governmenlaJ fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well 
as bond issuance costs, during the cu1:renl period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other 
financing sources while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, 
wheU1er or not witW1eld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service cxpcnrutures. 

Government Wide - Net Position 
Net position is a component of equity and is displayed in the following three components: 

Net Investment in Capital Assets - Consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced 
by the outstanding balances of any bonds that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or 
improvement of those assets; debt related to unspent proceeds or other restricted cash and investments is 
excluded from the determination. 

Restricted - Consists of net position for which consu·aints are placed Lhereon by external parties. such as 
lenders, grantors, contributors. laws, regulations, and enabling Jegisla1ion, including self-imposed legaJ 
mandates, less any rclared liabilities. The restrictions are evident from the classification titles. 

Unrestricted - All other net position that does not meet the description of the above categories. 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2023 

(1) Summary of ignificant Accounting Policies, Continued 

f w1d Balance 
The City implemented GASB 54 which addresses issues related to how fund balances are reported. Fund 
balances are now reported in the following manner: 

Nonspendable fund Balance - This classification i11cludes amounts that are (a) not in spendable form, or 
(b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. The "not in spendable form" criterion includes 
terms Lhat are nol expected to be converted to cash, for example: inventories, prepaid amounts, and long­
term notes rece1vable. 

Restricted Fund Balance - This classification includes amounts that are restricted for specific purposes 
stipulated by external resource providers, constitutionally or through enabling legislation. Restrictions may 
c(Jeclivcly be changed or lifted with the consent of resource providers. 

Committed Fund Balance - This classification includes amounts that can only be used for the specific 
purposes determined by a formal action of the City's highest level of decision-making authority, the City 
Council of the City of Loreno. Tennessee. Commitments may be changed or lifted only by the Cily taking 
the same formal action that imposed the constraint originally (for example: ordinance). 

Assigned f.und Balance - This classification included amounts intended to be used by the City for specific 
purposes that are neither restricted nor committed. The City Council and its designee, the Recorder, have 
the authority to assign amounts to be used for spcci fie purposes. Assigned amounts also include all residual 
amounts in governmental funds (except negative amounts) that are not classified as nonspendable. 
restricted, or committed. 

Unassigned Fund Balance - Thls fund balance is the residual classification for the general fund. 1t is also 
used to report negative fund balances in other governmental funds. 

In circumstances when an expenditw-e is made for a purpose for which amounrs are available in multiple 
fund balance classifications, fund balance is depleted in the order of restricted, committed. assigned, and 
unassigned. 

Other Post-Employment Benefit Plan- (OPEB) 
For the purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows 
of resources related to other postemployment benefits, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary 
net position of the City of Loretto's participation in the Local Government OPEB Plan (LOOP), and 
additions to/deductions from the City of Loretto fiduciary net position have been determined on the same 
basis as they are reported by the LGOP. For this purpose, benefits arc recognized when due and payable in 
accordance with benefit terms of the LGOP. 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2023 

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Continued 

Budgets and Budgetarv Accounting 
The City follows lhese procedmes in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial statements: 

a. Formal budgets are adopted and approved by Council vote on an annual basis for the General and 
Special Revenue Funds. These budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting 
principles (GAAP). 

b. The City Council approves, by ordinance, total budget appropriations by department only. The 
mayor is aul11orIBcd lo transfer budget amounts between line items within each department: however, any 
revisions that alter the (otal appropriations of any fund must be approved by the City Council. 

c. The budget ammmts shown in the financial statements are the final authorized amounts as amended 
during the year. 

(2) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The City is authorized to invest funds in Federal treasury bills and notes. State of Tennessee Local 
Government Investment Pool and ftnancial institution d(.)mand deposit accounts and ccrt.ilicates of deposit. 
During the year, the City invested funds that were not immediately needed in ce1ti.fica1es of deposits, savings 
accounts and investments in the State of Tennessee Local Government Investment Pool. Tbe City has 
deposit policies to minimize custodial credit risks. All deposits with [mancial institutions must be secured 
by one or two methods. One metl1od involves financial institutions that participate in the bank collateral 
pool administered by the state u·casurer. Participating banks determine the aggregate balance of their public 
fund acvounts fo r the State of Tennessee and its political subdivisions. The amount of collateral required to 
secure these public deposits must equal at least 105 percent of the average daily balance of pub! ic deposits 
held. Collateral securities required to be pledged by the pariicipating banks to protect their public fund 
accounts are pledged to the state treasurer on behalf of the bank collateral pool. The securities pledged to 
protect these accounts are pledged in the aggregate rather than against each account. The members of U1e 
pool may be required by agreement to pay an assessment to cover any deficiency. Under iliis additional 
assessment agreement, public fund accounts covered by the pool are considered to be insured for purposes 
of credit risk disclosure. 

For deposits with financial institutions that do not parlicipate in the bank collateral pool, state statutes 
require that all deposits be collateralized wilb coUateral whose market value is equal to 105 percent of the 
uninsured amount of the deposits . The colJateral must be placed by the depository bank in an escrow account 
in a second bank for the benefit of the city. The City·s deposits with financial institutions are fully insured 
or collateraJized by securities held by the depository bank in the government's name. Additionally. the 
deposit accounts are covered by the Federal Depository Insurance Coverage. 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2023 

(3) Accounts Rec i able 

Accounts receivable at June 30, 2023, consist oftbe following: 

Other Property Customer 
Fund Government Truces Accow1ts Total 

General Fund $ 90,589 144,005 234,594 
Special Revenue Funds 5,323 5,323 
Enterprise Funds 140,498 140,498 
Less allowance for 
doubtful accounts (9,830) 

Total $ 95.912 144 370.585 

(4) 

A summary of changes in general capital assets as presented in the governmental activities colwnn of the 
government- wide financial statements is as follows: 

Balance Balance 
Jul}'. 1. 2022 Additions Dis2osals June 30 2023 

Land $172,185 0 0 172,185 
Buildings 885,393 0 0 885,393 
Improvements 1,917,053 0 0 1,917,053 
Equipment .804,666 40,948 0 845,614 

Total 3,779,297 40,948 0 3,820,245 

Less Accumulated Depreciation (2,000,367) (2,138 791) 

Net capital assets in service $1,778,9 0 $1 681,454 

All assets, except land of $172,185 are being depreciated. 

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows: 

Genera1 Fund: 
General government adrninistrntion 
Police department 
Fire department 
Parks and Recreation 

Total J 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

otes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2023 

(4) 

A summary of changes in Enterprise (Water and Sewer) Fund capital assets and related accumulated 
depreciation foJlows: 

Balance Balance 
July 1, 2022 Addi ions Dis osals June 30 2023 

Land $69,200 0 0 69,200 
Construction in progress 23,374 864,018 0 887,392 
Utility plant 11006287 0 0 11,006,287 
Equipment 101,767 65,590 0 167,357 

Total 11 ,200,628 929,608 0 12,130,236 

Less Accumulated Depreciation (5,854,301) (6,167,172) 

Net capital assets in service 7 $5,963,064 

All assets, except land and easements of $69,200 and Construction in Progress of $887,392 are being 
depreciated. Depreciation expense was $312 871 in 2023. 

A summary of changes in Enterprise (Gas) Fund capital assets and related accumulated depreciation 
follows: 

Balance Balance 
July 1, 2022 Additions Disposals June 30, 2023 

Land and easement $68,309 0 0 68,309 
Utility plant 557,594 0 0 557,594 
Equipment 232,584 69,444 45 590 256,438 

Total 858,487 6 ,444 45,,590 882,341 

Less Accumulated Depreciation (564,124) (542,864) 

Net capital assets in service $294,363 $339,477 

All assets, except land of $68,309, are being depreciated. Depreciation expense was $24,330 in 2023 . 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2023 
(4) Capital 

A su.rnmary of changes in Solid Waste capital assets and related accumulated depreciation follows : 

Balance Balance 
July 1, 2022 Additions Disposals June 30, 2023 

Equipment 310,711 0 0 310~711 
Total 310,711 0 0 310,711 

Less Accumulated Depreciation (139,224) (159 919) 

Net capital assets in service L 71 ,487 $150,792 

All asset are being depreciated. Depreciation expense was $20,695 for the year ended June 30, 2023. 

(5) Long-Term Debt Payable and Other Obligations Payable 

Direct Borrowings 

The following schedule reflects the changes in long~term debt, as shown for governmenta1 activities during 
the fiscal year 2023. 

Balance Balance Due Within 

Loans Payable: July I~ 2022 Additions Retirements June 30, 2023 One Year 

Sidewalk loan $ 80,000 $ $ 80,000 $ $ 

Capstar $ 102,893 $ $ 24,662 $ 78,231 $ 25,402 

Bond $ 281 ,000 $ 123,734 $ 39,000 $ 365,734 $ 40,000 

Bank of Waynesboro $ 31,990 $ $ 31,990 $ $ 

State Bank $ 20,834 $ $ l l, l30 $ 9,704 $ 9,704 

State Bank $ 8 663 $ $ 7,985 $ 678 $ 678 

State Bank 130. 147 $ $ 24,376 $ 105.771 $ 25,176 

Total $ 655,527 $ 123,734 $ 219 143 560.1 18 $ 100 60 

*See Note 12 for additional information on restatement of prior year debt. 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2023 

(5) Long-Term Debt Pavablc and Other Obligations Pavablc, ontinued 

The following schedule reflects the changes in long-term debt, as shown in the Enterprise (Water and Sewer) 
Fund during the fiscal year 2023. 

Balance Balance Due Within 

Loans Payable: July 1, 2022 Additions Retirements June 30, 2023 One Year 

2023 Vehicle Loan $ $ 46,487 $ $ 46,487 $ 8,489 

Series 2021 $ 553,187 $ $ 39,987 $ 513,200 $ 41 ,000 
Series 2017 $ 462,876 $ 3 !825 $ 440,051 $ 23.324 

Total $ l ,016,063 $ 46487 $ 62,812 $ 999,738 $ 72 813 

The following schedule retlectsthe changes in long-term debt, as shown in the Enterprise (Gas) Fund during 
tbe fiscal year 2023. 

Balance Balance Due Within 

Loans Payable: July 1, 2022 Additions Retirements June 30. 2023 One Year 

2023 Vehicle Loan $ $ 38,5 l4 $ $ 38,514 $ 

Series 2021 $ 99 000 $ 32,500 $ 66,500 " 23,J 24 ' 
Total 9,000 $ 38,5 14 $ 32,500 $ 105,014 $ 23,324 

The following schedule reflects the changes in long-term debt, as shown in the Enterprise (Sanitation) Fund 
during the fiscal year 2023 . 

Notes Payable: 

Series 2021 

Total 

Balance 

July 1. 2022 

$ 160.000 

160,000 

Additions 

$ 

$ 

39 

Retirements 

$ 25,400 

$ _5 400 

Balance 

June 30, 2023 

$ 134.600 

$ 134.600 

Due Within 

One Year 

25.900 

$ 25,900 



CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30 2023 

(5) Long-T rm Debt P:, able and 0th 

Principal and interest requirements to maturity on all outstanding governmental bonds, loans and obligations 
as of June 30, 2023, are as follows: 

Year Ending 

June 30, 
2024 
2025 
2026 
2027 
2028 
2029-2032 

Total 

General Obligation 

Principal 
100,960 
93,167 
95,520 
71,737 
45,000 

1 
.5 

Interest 
I 1,755 
9,191 
6,580 
3,436 
1,221 
2,925 

li.10--8 

Principal and interest requirements to maturity on all outstanding bonds, Joans and obligations as of June 
30 2023 , are as follows: 

Year Ending 
June 30, 

2024 
2025 
2026 
2027 
2028 

2029-2033 
2034-2038 

2039 
Total 

Wat rand Sc 1'1er · und 

Principal 

72,813 
74,856 
76,827 
78,930 
80,901 

381,260 
205,505 
28.646 

lnt re t 

23,672 
21,228 
18,952 
16,813 
14,788 
48 391 
14,437 
~ 

158.922 

. atural Gas fund 

Principal 

39,946 
40,784 

7,634 
8,001 
8,649 

105.014 

Imerc 1 

3,064 
2,377 
1,052 

685 
302 

The above bonds payable contain provisions that in the event of default, the lender can use any remedy 
allowed by state or federal law. 
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June 30, 2023 

(5) Long-Term Debt Payable and Other· Obligations Payable, Continued 

Principal and interest requirements to maturity on all outstanding bonds, loans and obligations as of June 
30, 2023, are as follows: 

Year Ending 
June 30, 

2024 
2025 
2026 
2027 
2028 

Total 

Sanitation Fund 

Ptincipal 

25,900 
26,400 
26,900 
27,400 
28,000 
ll4 600 

Interest 

41 

2,625 
2,120 
1,605 
1,080 

___ill 

~ 



CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2023 

(6) Pension Plan 

General Information about the Pension Plan 

Plan description. Employees of Loretto are provided a defined benefit pension plan through the Public 
Employee Retirement Plan, an agent multiple-employer pension plan administered by the TCRS. The TCRS 
was created by state statue under Tennessee Code Annotated Title 8, Chapters 34-37. The TCRS Board of 
Trustees is responsible for the proper operation and administration of the TCRS. The Tennessee Treasury 
Department, an agency in the legislative branch of state government, administers the plans of the TCRS. 
The TCRS issues a publicly available fmancial report that can be obtained at 
http://treasury.tn.gov/Retirement/Boards-and-Governance/Reporting-and-Investment-Policies. 

Benefits provided. Tennessee Code Aru1otated Title 8, Chapter 34-37 established the benefit terms and cun 
be amended only by the Tenness~e Genera.I Assembly. The chief legislative body may adopt the benefit 
terms permitted by statute. Members are eligible to retire with an unreduced benefit at age 60 with 5 years 
of service credit or after 30 years of service credit regardless of age. Benefits arc determined by fonnula 
using the member's highest five consecutive year average compensation and lhe member's years of service 
credit. Reduced benefits for early retirement are available at age 55 and vested. Members vest with five 
years of service credit. Service-related disability benefits are provided regardless or length or service. Five 
years of service is required for non-,service-related disability eligibility. The service related and non-scrvicc­
related disability benefits are determined in the same manner as a service retirement benefit bu1 are reduced 
IO percent and include projected service credits. A variety of death benefits are available under various 
eligibility criteria. 

Member and beneficiary annuitants are entitled to automatic cost of living adjustments (COLAs) after 
retirement. A COLA is granted each July for annuitants retired prior to the 2nd of July of the previous year. 
The COLA is based on the change in the consumer price index (CPI) during the prior calendar year. capped 
al 3 percent, and applied to the current benefit. No COLA is granted if lhe change in U,c CPI is less than 
onc-halfperecnt. A one percent COLA is granted if the CPT change is between one-half percent. A member 
who leaves employment may withdraw their employee contributions, plus any accumulated interest. 

Employees covered by benefit terms. At the measurement date of June 30, 2022, the following employees 
were covered by the benefit terms: 

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 
Active employees 

Total 

42 

8 
12 
ll. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2023 

(6) Pension PJan, Continued 

Contributions. Contributions for employees arc established in the statutes governing the TCRS and may 
only be changed by the Tennessee General Assembly. Employees contribute 5 percent of salary. Loretto 
maki..:s employe,r contributions at the rate set by the Board of Trustees as determined by an actuarial 
valuation. For the year ended June 30, 2023, employer contributions for Loretto were ($86,331) based on a 
rate of (3.13%) percent of covered payroll. By law, employer co11uibulions are required lo be paid. The 
TCRS may intercept Lorcuo's state shared taxes if required employer conlributions are not remitted. The 
employers actuarially determined contribution (A DC) and member contributions arc expected to Gnancc the 
costs of benelits ca1ned by members during the year, the cost of administration, as well as an amortized 
portion of any unfunded liability. 

Net Pension Liability (Asset) 

Loretta's net pension liability (asset) was measured as of June 30, 2022, and the total pension liability used 
to calculate net pension liability (asset) was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. 

Actuarial assumptions. The total pension liability as of June 30, 2022, actuarial valuation was determined 
using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 

Inflation 2.25 percent 

Salary increases Graded salary ranges from 8.72 to 3.44 percen1 based on age, including 
inflation averaging 4.00 percent. 

Investment rate of return 6.75 percent, net of pension plan investment expenses, including inflation. 

Cost-of-Living Adjustment 2.125 percent 

Mortality rates were based on actual experience including an adjustment for some anticipated 
improvement. 

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2022 actuarial valuation were based on the results of an 
actuarial experience study performed for the period July 1, 2016 through June 30, 2020. The demographic 
assumptions were adjusted to more closely reflect actual and expected future experience. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2023 

(6) Pension Plan, Continued 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was established by the TCRS Board of 
Trustees in conjunction with the Jw1e 30, 2020 actuarial experience study. A blend of future capital market 
projections and historical market returns was used in a building-block method in which a best-estimate of 
expected future real rates of relurn (ex.peeled returns, net of pension plan invcstmenL expense and inflation) 
is developed for each major asset class. These best-estimates are combined to produce the long-term 
expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates by return by the target asset aJ location 
percentage and by adding expected inflation of 2.25 percent. The best-estimates of geometric real rates of 
return and the TCRS investment policy target asset allocation for each major asset class are swnmarize<l in 
the following table: 

Asset class 
U.S. equity 
Developed market international equity 
Emerging market international equity 
Private equity and strategic lending 
U.S. fixed income 
Real Estate 
Short-tenn securities 

Total 

Long-term Expected 
Real RaJe of Return 

4.88% 
5.37% 
6.09% 
6.57% 
1.20% 
4.38% 
0.00% 

Target 1lllocatio11 
31% 
14% 

4% 
20% 
20% 
10% 

1% 
100% 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was established by the TCRS Board of 
Trustees as 6.75 percent based on a blending of the three [actors described above. 

Discount rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.75 percent The projection 
or cash nows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee conuibutions will be made at the 
current rate and lhaL contributions from Loretto will be made at the actuarially dctemuned contribution rate 
pursuant to an actuarial valuation in accordance with the funding policy of the TCRS Board of Trustees and 
as required to be paid by state statute. Based on those assumptions. the pension plan's fiduciary net position 
was projected to be available to make projected future benefit payments of cunent active and inactive 
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to al I 
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 
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(6) Pcnsioa, Continued 

Balance at 6/30/21 
Changes for the Yeai-: 
Service Cost 
Interest 
Changes in Benefit Terms 
Differences between expected and 
actual experience 
Changes in assumptions 
Contributions-employer 
Contributions-employees 
Net investment income 
Benefit payments, including refunds 
of employee contributions 
Administrative expense 
Other changes 
Net changes 
Balance at 6/30/22 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2023 

Changes in the Net Pension Liability (Asset) 

Total Pension 
Liability (Asset) 

(a) 

$2,713,903 

55,476 
183,520 

227,745 

(101,117) 

365,624 

$ 3 079 527 

Increase (Decrease) 

Plan 
Fiduciru.y Net 

Position 
(b) 

$3,181,801 

28,126 
40,180 

(121,062) 

(101,117) 
(1,777) 

(155,650) 

$ 3.026 151 

Net Pension 
Liability 
(Asset) 
(a) - (b) 

($467,898) 

55,476 
183,520 

227,745 

(28,126) 
(40,180) 
121,062 

1 777 

521,274 
$ 53,376 

en. Wvily o the n r pension lfahility ~ rssel) lo chang s in the discount rate. The following presents the net 
p nsion liability (ass t ofL retto alculatcd using lhc discount rate of 6. 75 percent, as well as what the net 
p nsi n Liabi Ii ty a set) oul b if it wer alcLJlatcd using a discount rate that is I-percentage-point lower 

~.7 pre nt or 1-p re nta -pointbigh r 7.7 percent)thanthecurrentrate: 

Loretto's net pension 
Liability (asset) 

1% Decrease 
(5.75%) 

487,258 

45 

Current 
Discount Rate 

(6.75%) 

53,376 

I% Increase 
(7.75%) 

(306,909) 
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Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2023 

(6) 

Pension Expense (income) and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources 
Related to Pensions 

Pension expense. For the year ended June 30, 2023, Loretto recognized pension expense of $50,046. 

Deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources. For the year ended June 30, 2023, Loretto 
rep01ted deferred outflows or resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the 
following sources: 

Differences between expected and 
Actual experience 
Net difference between projected and 
Actual earning on pension plan 
Investments 
Changes in assumptions 
Contributions subsequent to the 
Measurement date of June 30 2022 

Total 

194,235 

5,949 
188,707 

86,331 
475,222 

D fcned ln1Jows f Re ources 

37,853 

37,853 

The amounts shown above for 'Contributions subsequent to the measurement date of June 30, 2022', will 
be recognized as a reduction (increase) to net position liability (asset) in the following measurement 
period. 

Amounts repmied as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 
will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

Year Ended June 30: 

2024 
2025 
2026 
2027 
2028 

Thereafter 

58,191 
60,927 
47,420 

146 549 
37,958 

In the table shown above, positive amounts will increase pension expense while negative amounts will 
decrease pension expense. 
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June 30, 2023 

(7) Other Postemploymcnt Benefits For Retiree Hcalt11lnsurancc 

Plan description- Employees of the City, who were hired prior to July 1, 2015, arc provided with pre-65 
retiree health insurance benefits through the closed Local Government OEB Plan (LGOP) administered by 
the Tennessee Department of Finance and Administration. This plan is considered to be multiple-employer 
defined benefit plan that is used to provide postemployment benefits other than pensions (OPEB). However, 
for accounting purposes, this plan will be treated as a single-employer plan. /\JI eligible pre-65 retired 
employees and disability participants of local governments, who chose coverage, participate in the LOOP. 

Benefits provided -The City offers the LGOP to provide health insurance coverage to eligible prc-65 retirees 
and disabled participants of local governments. lusmance coverage is the onJy postemployment benefit 
provided to retirees. An insurance committee created in accordance with TCA 8-27-701 establishes and 
amends the benefit 1cnns of the LGOP. All members have the option of choosing between the premier 
preferred provider organization (PPO), standasd PPO, limited PPO or Lhe wellness health-savings consumer­
driven heallh plan (CDHP) for healthcare benefits. Retired plan members, of the LGOP, receives the same 
plan benefits as active employees, al a blended premium rate that considers the cost of all participants. This 
creates an implicit subsidy for retirces. Participating employers determine their own policy related to direct 
subsid.ies provided for the retiree premiums. The City docs nol directly subsidize and arc only subject to the 
implicit. The LGOP is funded on a pay-as-you-go basis and there arc no assets accumulating in a trust that 
meets the criteria of paragraph 4 of GASB Statement NO. 75. 

Employees covered by benefit terms. At July l, 2022, the following employees were covered by the benefit 
terms of the LGOP: 

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 
Active employees 

Total 

1 
0 

11 
ll 

An insmanee committee, created in accordance with TCA 8-27-701 , establishes the required payments 10 

the LGOP by member employers and employees through the blended premiums established for active and 
retired employees. Claims liabilities of the plan arc periodically computed using acturu-ial and statjslical 
techniques to established premium rates. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, Lbe City paid $4,937 to 
the LGOP for OPEB benefits as they came due. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2023 

(7) Other Postcmployment Benefits For Retiree Health Insurance, Continued 

Total OPEB Liability 

Actuarial assumptions-The total OPEB liability on the June 30, 2022 actuarial valuation was determined 
using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all the periods included in the 
measurement, unless otherwise specified. 

Inflation - 2.25% 

Salary increases - Graded salary ranges from 3.44 to 8.72 percent based on age, 
including inflation, averaging 4 percent. 

Healthcare cost trend rates - 8.37% for pre-65 in 2022, decreasing annually over a 7-year 
period to an ultimate rate of 4.50%. 8.99% for post-65 in 2022, 
decreasing annually over an 8-year period to an ultimate rate of 
4.50% 

Retiree 's share of benefit-related costs - Members are required to make monthly contributions. in order 
to maintain their coverage. For the purpose of this valuation a 
weighted average has been used with weights derived from the 
current distributions of members among plans offered. 

Unless noted otherwise, the actuarial demographic assumptions used in the June 30, 2022, valuations were 
the same as those employed in the July 1, 2021 Pension Actuarial Valuation of the Tennessee Consolidated 
Retirement System (TCRS). These assumptions were developed by TCRS based on the results of an 
actuarial eXJJeriencc study for the period July l. 20 l 6 - June 30, 2020. TI1e demographic asswnplions were 
adjusted to more closely reOect actual and expected future c}rperience. Mortality tables arc used to measure 
the probabilities of participants dying before and a11er retirement. The mortaJity rates employed in this 
valuation are taken from the PUB-2010 Headcount-Weighted Employee mortality table for General 
Employees for non-disabled pre-retirement mortality, wilh mortality improvement projected gcncrntionaUy 
with MP-2020 from 2010. Post-retirement tables are Headcount-Weighted Below Median Heal tb.y 
Annuitant and adjusted with a 6% load for males and a 14% load for females, projected generationally from 
2010 with MP-2020. Mortality rates for impaired lives are the same as those used by TCRS and are taken 
from a gender distinct table published in the IRS Ruling 96-7 for disabled Ii ves with a 10% load, projected 
generationally from 2018 with MP-2020. 

Discuu/11 rale-Thc discount rate used 10 measure the totaJ OPEB liability was 3.54 percent. This rate reflects 
the interest rate dcdved from yields on a 20-yeal", tax exempt general obligation municipal bonds, prevailing 
on the measurement date, witb an average rating of A.A/ Aa as shown on the Bond Buyer 20-ycar MunicipaJ 
GO AA index. 
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(7) Othc1· Postemplo mcnt Bca.cfits For Retiree Health Insurance, ootioucd 

Changes in the Total OPEB Liability 

Total OPEB liability - beginning balance 
Changes for the year: 

Service cost 
Interest 
Changes of benefit terms 
Differences between expected and actual experience 
Change in assumptions 
Benefit payments 

Net changes 
Total OPEB liability - ending balance 

Total OPEB 
Liability 

(a 
$ 31,812 

$ 3,181 
$ 706 
$ 
$ (2,145) 
$ (9,384) 
$ (4,660) 
$ (12,302) 
$ 19 510 

hem e • in as ·1-Imp1ions~ The di count rat as changed from -.16% a f the beginning oftbe measurement 
pcri d to .54% as of Jun "0 2022. ·1 cti hangc in a sumpti n re d th total OP EB liability. lber 
hang in s umpti ns in Jud adju tments to initial per apit.a costs an<l b alth_ trend rat . 

Sensitivity of total OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate-The following presents the total OPEB 
liability related to the LGOP. as well as what the total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a 
discount rate that is I-percentage-point lower or I-percentage higher than the current discount rate. 

1 % Decrease 
(2.54%) 

$20,579 

Current Discount 
Rate Assumption 

p.-4%) 
$ 19,510 

1 % Increase 
(4.54%) 

$ 18,510 

n itivity oftatal OPEB liability to changes in the health are co.<,l fr n Ir te - Th follo ·in pr sems th 
Lal OPEB liabilil related to the LOOP as well as hat the totaJ OPEB liability would be if it re 

calculated using a healthcare cost trend rate that is 1-p re ntagc-Jower or 1-percenlagc-point-bigher than 
the current healthcare cost trend rate. 

Current HeaJthcare Cost 
1 % D reas Trend Rate Assumpti n J % lncrea 

(7 .3 717.99% D er asing to 3. "0%) ( 8.37/8.99% decrea ing to 4. 0%) (9.37/9.99% decreasing to •. 0% 
17860 19510 21,471 
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(7) 0th r Postcmploymcnt Benefits For Rctii-cc IlcaJth In uraocc. Continued 

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
OPEB 

OPEB Expense - For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the City of Loretto recognized OPEB expense of 
($1,939). 

Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources - For the year ended June 30, 2023, the 
City of Loretto reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB 
benefits in the LGOP from the following sources: 

Differences between expected and 
Actual expc1i nee 

hang . in umptions 
Empl er payments subsequent to 
The measurement date 

Dcfcn-cd Outflows 

Total 

5,352 
2,878 

4,937 
13 ,167 

15,998 
16,347 

32,345 

The amounts shown above for "Employer payments subsequent to the measurement date" will be recognized 
as a reduction to total OPEB liability in the following measurement period. 

Amounts rep rled as def. rred outflows fr ource • and defened inflows of resources related to OPEB 
v ill be recognized in emplo ce benefit peose as fo llows: 

Year Ended June 30: 

2024 
2025 
2026 
2027 
2028 
Thereafter 

(5,826) 
(5,826) 
{5,338) 
(2,849) 
(1,933) 
(2,343) 

In the table shown above, positive amounts will increase employee benefit expense while negative 
amounts will decrease employee benefit expense. 

Plan Assets 
There are no plan assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 75 . 
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Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2023 

(8) Comm itments and Contingencies 

Li Ligation: 
Management of the City esiimates that potential claims against the. City resulting from such litigation will 
not materially affect the financial statements of the City at ycaJ'cnd. 

Grants: 
Ammmts received from Grantor agencies are subject to audit and adjustment by Grantor agencies, 
principally the Federal government. Any disallowed claims including amounts already collected, could 
become a liability of the applicable fund. 

(9) Risk Management 

The City is exposed to various risks to general liability and property and casualty losses. The City has 
decided it is more economically feasible to be in a public entity risk poal as opposed Lo purchasing 
commercial insurance for general liability and property and casualty coverage. The City participates in the 
Public Entity Partners (formerly TML r nsurance Pool), which is a public entity risk pool established by the 
Tennessee Municipal League, an association of member cities. The City pays an annual premium lo lhe PEP 
for its general Liability and property and casualty insmance coverage. Tbe pool reinsures through 
commercial insurance companies. The City has not had claims in excess of insurance coverage during the 
last three years. 

(10) Leases 

Provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 87, Leases became 
effecLive for the year ended June 30, 2022. This Statement increases the usefulness of governments' financial 
statements by requiring recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were 
classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows ofresources or outflows of resources based on the 
payment provisions of the contract. It establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the 
foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. Under this Statement, 
a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is 
required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resow·ces, thereby enhancing the relevance 
and consistency of information about governments' leasing activities. Management has determined that the 
City's leases do not qualify for reporting under GASB 87 due to the short-tcnn nature of the leases. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2023 

(11) Iotcrfund r. nsactioo 

Interfm1d receivables and payables at June 30, 2023 were as follows: 

Due Due 
Fund From To 

General Fund $ 119,947 
Natural Gas Fund 7J632 0.449 
Water and Sewer Fund 107,130 

Total $127,579 - .579 

The Due To/From balance between the funds are for shared purchases that were funded by the other 
funds. These amotmts will be repaid in the next fiscal year. 

(12) Restatement 

During the year, the City of Loretto restated its beginning governmental net position by $30,000 due to a 
debt issue. 
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Schedule of Required Supplementary Information 

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability (Asset) and Related 
Ratios Based on Participation in the Public Employee Pension Plan of TCRS 

Last Fiscal Year ending June 30 

2014 201!> 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 202i 
Total pension liobmty (asse() 
Service cost s 39,586 s 37,097 s 42,899 s 43,062 45,490 s 52,523 s 52,591 s 48,947 
Interest s 117,502 s 120,242 s 128,357 s 140,96'2 s 143,702 s 153,409 s 162,980 16~.804 
Chances in benefit temis s s s s s $ 
Differences between actual & e~pected experience s (51,857) s 10,543 s 65,998 s (67,825) s 10,147 s 4,655 s (27 ,904 / (21.J 7) 
Change of assumptions s s s 55,042 s s 271,265 
Bendit payments, includins refunds or employee contributions s {69,519\ s (62,908) s (611,054) S (70.653) s s s (83,817) (95,957) 
N.tchenge in total pension liability (usteC) s 35,712 s 104.974 5 169,200 s 100,588 s s s 103,850 s 372,742 s 
Total pen1ion lhlbilit)' (asstt}-beginniog S l ,5Gl ,H70 S l ,S<>7, Slll 1,7112.,556 s l ,lt7t .7 ti s s -2..1.37.JI I l ,.Hl . lol 
Total pension liabiliry (asset)-ending (a) $ 1.5?1,S - S 1.702,556 s l.87 1.756 s l.'Hl .. HII s s :!.311,161 1,713,903 s 

Plan liduciuy net position 

Contributions• em player s s s s 5,255 s 11 ,633 12,732 19,932 s 19,846 
Con1rib111ions,employee s 20,542 s 22,734 s 25,407 s 26,277 s 29,082 s 31.829 33.220 s 33.076 
Net investment inoome s 283.431 s 60,237 s 52,351 s 224,823 s 180,331 s 172,863 s 122,176 657,049 s 
Benefit payments. including refunds of •mployee contributions s (69,519) s (62,908) $ (68,054) S (70,653) S (71 ,476) (73,483) (83,817) S (95,957) 
Administrative expense s (538) s (711) S (1,082) S (1,259) S (1,476) (1,403) (1,506) (1,480) S 
Other s s s s s s s s 
Net c.hante in pl»n fiduci•ry ne.t po ·ilion s 233,916 s 19,352 s 8,622 s 184.443 s 148,094 s 142,538 s 90,005 s 612,5 34 s 

Plan fiduciary net pusition-beginnine 1.7.U.300 l ,?76,216 1.9115.568 1,004,IQO _,1s~.6n ~3 li,7'.!7 .. 47 .16S '.!,5611.267 s 
Plan fiduciary net position-ending (b) S 1.971>.110 S lx995.S6 '004. l!IU 2,1118,t,33 s _,,36.727 l,179,lM s l .W),270 J,l '1 .801 s 

Net Pension Liability (a.sset)-cnding (a)- (b) (378.634) (293,012) S (ll2.4J4) S (216,289} S rnli.520> s (241.954\ S (228,109) s (467,898) 5 

Plan fiduduy net position • s a percentage of cotal p•n.sion liability 123.70% ll7,21% 107.08% 110.97% 111.26% 110.81% 10974% 117 .24% 

Covered payroll s 410,847 s 454,679 s 508,141 s 525,544 s 581.636 s 636,587 s 664,397 s 661 ,521 s 

"N et pension liability (asset) as a persentage of covered payroll 92 . I 6°/4 -64.44% -26.06% --il.16% -40.66% -38,01% •34.33% -70.73% 

Changes f Msump111ms. ln 202 1, nim.,ums r~poned as oh llllCS of n:ssu111111i1:ms resulted fr m ch~Dllltl to the in0n1ion rule, in•e,lmcul rate tif return, cosl,ul-li,•111 • adJ11Str11011t, and in1111nh1y improV<:ments. 

rn 2017. ru1101111u reported as chani:c.s r assurnplions ,., 11hed flllm cl11111gu to the inflation I le, lt1vC$1ment r. IC of mum, c $1 f.lfvmg ni!Jusunent, ,nlnry 1,.'l'Owlh und mort, lity umproV11ments. 

GASB 08 1equires a I 0-)ellr schellulc fort Ins data to be 1111:senl<!d stru1/11i: ,vitli lhc 1111plcr11c111. tum of OA$13 G8 The information in this sch~dule 
is 001 reqt ired 10 be rrrescmcd rctfl)n.:twi:I prior to the implcn111tlan dorc Please refer t pr v1ously su1111licd illua from TCRS GASB website for 
prior years' data, if needed. 

S3 

2022 

55,476 
183,520 

227,745 

(101,ll7l 
365,624 

1 .713,()0 
.079,527 

28,126 
q0,180 

(121,Q62) 
(101,117) 

(1.777) 

(155,650) 

3,181.801 
3.01 , ISi 

53,376 

9827% 

803,596 

6.64% 



Actuarially detennintd contrib1.1rion 

Contrlbutiom jn rcfat1on to the. 
actuarially d,tcrmincd contribution 

CITY Of LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

&hedule or Contribution~ BJ1.,ed on P11rtidp,itlon in the 
Public Employee Pen1ion Plan or TCRS 

lli.i 1.Qll l!fil 

0 

0 0 

u 

0 

ContributiM dcfocoency (.-,ccs•J so so so 

C<>vercd-cmployt:e payn,II 4 10.847 454,679 508,14 I 

Contributioos .. • percenu,gc 
co,crtd-tmplQyce paytoll o o°'~ 0 00'/, 0 OOo/, 

GASB 68 r.quircs IO-y .. r 5Chcdulc for this data to b• pre,cntcd stan,ng with Jhc omplen,cntation ofGASB 68 The 
infonnrnjon in thl!li ic.hedule T!. not re-quired lD be: preHnted reucBCtively prior to the ,mpltmentaUon delt Please refer 
10 prc-.ou.'1y supplied data from the TCRS GASB wob,lle ror prior ye.,.' data. ln needed 

NolH to Srhcdole 

Valuation d01ec Actuarloliy d<tmnined con1t1bu1iar, ... ,,. far f<scal year 10:IJ were calculatod b05cd on lh< 
June JO, 2021 ~c,uMi•I vaht•lian 

Mtlhods 1md u~umptions Uied to delemum: contribt.1t1on ~te5-; 

Actuanol c<>tt method 

Am0rtiz.a1ion method 

H.~m'-lnlng amoniZJnian penao 

Auel valualion 

ln00110n 

Salary incre&H.t 

lno .. tmcnt Rll1e of Reu,m 

Rcli~m~nt age 

Maruoliiy 

Cost or Living Adjuslmcnts 

Entry Ase No,..,. J 

Vories by 'f••• 

JO-year $moothed within~ 20 pcrecnlcorTidor 10 rtmloet wluc 

225 pc,ccnt 

Graded talary r-ol&C$ fmm 8 72 to J 44 percent b4sed on 
•S•, including infl1tion, averoging 4 .00 perce.r.t 

6 75 percent. net or ,n-.stment open ... including infl•don 

P•ttem of retire men\ dell!nnin<d by expcr,enc, study 

C, !umo «I labfc biucd u" ~Ital ••pcnelltc including ao 
•JJ11>lmo111 fur 111mc .nuc1po1cd ,mpoo, emcot 

2 125 pen:cn\ 

Chang,s of anumptiort< fo 2021, the rollowong assumptions were changed: dccr .. Std inflalion rote fiom 
1.50 petconl lo 2.25 perc<n1, Je<rt05ed the fnvcs1rrion1 mlt ofretum from 7.25 porcent to 6.7S pcteenr, 
d•crc.,.,d the co,1-0(-llvtns •dJU.Jm<tnl l'rom 2,25 p<rccnJ to 2.125 porccn~ and mndifoed 111ot1•llty 
•uump\Ull\J In JUl7, l~c full1>wt11~11>,ump11on, "ere ch•nJ!•d decn:~ted 111Jbu n ra1c rron1l ,001•:r·«nt 
10 ~ ;o rercenl. dco ..... cd tlic ,n,olmenl ·~~o( ,<tum r,om 7 Sil""'""' JC, 7,2.S P•t Ont, dccrc,1$<!d the cost­
'"'""'''8 ldJurun•~· from: 5U per«m w l ?5 pcr<c11I, d«r<-d ,nt~, ,ro,.,1h gre~cd ,."B~ r,on1 •n 
l"ffllS• Q( 41l l)<'IC<OI In .,, """'!!•or~ 00 l''"""ll, .. ,d muJlll<J 111ut111l11 A»ump1io11, 

Wl 19..1! lQ..1.2 2020 .fill 20~ ID! 

0 5,816 6,366 10,497 10,4jl 12,697 86,lJl 

s~s; 11,633 12,732 19.932 19846 28.126 86,33) 

(SS)SS) (SS,817) (S6J66) (S9,4l5J ($9,194) (SI S,429) so 

525,544 581.636 636,587 664,397 661.S21 803.596 629.512 

I0W, 2 00¾ 2.0oY, J.00% 3.00'/4 350% J.IJ'/, 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Schedule of Required Supplementary Information- OPEB 

Schedule of Changes in Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios 

Total OPEB liability 

Service Cost 

Interest on t he Total OPEB Liabil ity 

Change in BenefitTerms 

Measurement Year ending June 30 

2018 2019 

$ 3,080 $ 2,856 

s 1,362 s 1,716 
$ $ . 

2.020 

s 3,090 
$ 1,726 
$ . 

s 
s 
$ 

Difference between expected and actual experience 

of the Total OPEB Liabil ity $ $ (8 144) $ (20,385) $ 
Changes in assumpt ions and other inputs 

Benefit payments 

Net change in Total OPEB Liability 

Total OPEB Liability- Beginning 

Total OPES Liability - Ending 

Estimated Covered -Employee Payroll 

Total OPEB Liability as a Percentage of Covered- Employee Payroll 

Notes to Schedule 

$ 

s 
$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

(2,471) $ 

$ 

1,971 $ 
43,557 $ 

45,528 $ 

508, 14 l $ 

8.96% 

3,222 $ 874 $ 

(319) $ (569) 
(669) $ (15,264) $ 

45,528 $ 44,858 $ 

44,859 $ 29,594 $ 

581 ,636 $ 636,587 $ 

7.71% 4.65% 

2021 

2,832 
1,128 

280,882 

(3 ,566) 
1,894 
(559) 

1,729 
29,594 
31,323 

664,397 

4.71% 

Note: There are no assets accumulating, in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 75, re lated to this OPEB plan. 

The amounts reported for each fiscal year were determined as of tbe prior fiscal year-end. The amounts reported for each fiscal year were 

determ ined as of the prior fiscal year-end. 

This schedule is intended to display ten years of information. Additional years will be displayed as they become available. 
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2021 2022 

$ 3,220 $ 3,1 81 
$ 755 $ 706 
$ . $ 

$ 7,680 s; (2,145) 
$ (10,358) $ (9,384) 
$ (808) $ (4 660) 
$ 489 $ (12,302) 
$ 31 ,323 $ 31,812 
$ 31,812 $ 19,S 10 

$ 661,521 s 803,596 

4.81% 2.43% 



SUPPLEMENTAL 
INFORMATION 



Description 

Land 

Buildings 

Improvements 

Equipment 
Total Capital Assets 

CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Capital Assets Used in the Operation of the Governmental Funds 

Schedule of Changes in Capital Assets By Type 

June 30, 202-3 

Balance 
July 11 2022 Additions Disposals 

$172,185 0 0 

885,393 0 0 

1,917,053 0 0 

804,666 40,948 0 
$3,779,297 40,948 0 
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Balance 
June 30, 2023 

172,1 85 

885,393 

1,917,053 

845,614 
3,820.245 



CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Schedule of Cash and Cash Equivalents and Certificate of Deposits 
All Funds 

General Fund: 
Demand deposits 
Certi ficate of Deposits 

Total General Fund 

State Street Aid Fund - demand deposit 

Water and Sewer Fund: 
Demand deposits 
Certificate of Deposits 

Total Water and Sewer Fund 

Natural Gas Fund: 
Demand deposits 

Total Natural Gas Fund 

Sanitation Fund: 
Demand deposits 

Total Sanitation Fund 

June 30, 2023 

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents - All Funds 
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Carrying 
Value 

$96,090 
61 ,086 

157,176 

182,702 

508,096 
99,249 

607 ,345 

244,948 

244,948 

62,090 

62,090 

$1,254,261 



Tax Year 
2023 
2022 
2021 
2020 
2019 
2018 
2017 
2016 
2015 
2014 
2013 
2012 

Tax Year 
2023 
2022 
2021 
2020 
2019 
2018 
2017 
2016 
2015 
2014 
2013 
2012 

$ 

$ 

CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Schedule of Changes in Property Taxes Receivable 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Collections 
Balance and Changes 

JUI}'. 1, 2022 Levy n Assessment 
137,050 0 

137,050 0 131 ,890 
6,880 0 5,259 
2,228 0 2,183 
1,209 0 1,109 

504 0 504 
323 0 323 

14 0 14 
41 0 26 
84 0 70 
20 0 20 

8 0 8 

148,361 137,050 141,406 

Tax 
Adjustment snd 

Tax Rate Tax Levy Collections 
0.3300 $ 137,050 $ 0 
0.3300 137,050 131,890 
0.4000 111 ,460 109,839 
0.4000 109,169 109,124 

0.40 106,679 106,579 
0.35 87,057 87,057 
0.25 60,680 60,680 
0.25 61,131 61 ,131 
0.19 44,446 44,431 
0.19 42,675 42,661 
0.19 42,271 42,271 
0.19 42,240 42,240 

All deliquent taxes have been turned over to the County. 
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Balance 
June 30, 2023 

137,050 
5,160 
1,621 

45 
100 

0 
0 
0 

15 
14 
0 
0 

144,005 

Outstanding 
Taxes 

$ 137,050 
5,160 
1,621 

45 
100 

0 
0 
0 

15 
14 

0 
0 



CITY OF L.ORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Schedule of Ocbt Service Requirements• 
General Obllgatlon Debt 

June 30, 2023 

Capital Outlay Note Capital Outlay Nole Capital Outlay Nole Bond Capital Outlay Note 
State Bank Stale Bank State Bank Securfl~ Bank & Trust Slate Bank Total 

Yru!! Pnnciea1 Interest PrinciE!!I Interest Princi~I Interest Princieal Interest Princle!I Interest Prlncieal Interest 

2024 s 25,402 2,275 25,176 3,472 678 2 40,000 5,785 9 ,704 221 100,960 11,755 
2025 26,165 1,512 26,002 2,646 41,000 s,o~ 93,1 67 9,1 91 
2026 26,664 1,013 26 ,B56 1,792 42,000 3,775 95,520 6,580 
2027 27,737 !!1 44,000 2,525 71 ,737 3,436 
2026 45,000 1,221 45,000 1,221 
2029 46,000 1,009 46,000 1,009 
2030 48,000 874- 48,000 874 
2031 49,000 623 49,000 623 
2032 10734 419 10 734 419 

s 78,231 4 800 105,771 8,821 678 2 365 734 21 264 9,704 221 560118 35,108 

60 



CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Schedule of Debt Service Requirements 
Water and Sewer Fund 

June 30, 2023 

2021 Water Revenue 2017 Water and Sewer 2023 Vehicle loan 
Bond Revenue and Tax Bond TOTAL TOTAL 

Year Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest 

2024 $ 41,000 11,551 23,324 9,994 8,489 2,127 72,813 23,672 
2025 42,100 10,050 23,853 9,464 8,903 1,714 74,856 21,228 
2026 43,100 8,744 24,396 8,922 9,331 1,286 76,827 18,952 
2027 44,200 7,608 24,951 8,367 9,779 838 78,930 16,813 
2028 45,400 6,619 25,516 7,800 9,985 369 80,901 14,788 
2029 46,500 5,759 26,099 7,220 72,599 12,979 
2030 47,700 5,011 26,691 6,626 74,391 11,637 
2031 48,900 3,758 27,297 6,020 76,197 9,778 
2032 50,200 2,556 27,919 5,399 78,119 7,955 
2033 51,400 1,278 28,554 4,764 79,954 6,042 
2034 52,700 653 29,204 4,115 81 ,904 4,768 
2035 29,866 3,451 29,866 3,451 
2036 30,546 2,772 30,546 2,772 
2037 31 ,239 2,078 31 ,239 2 ,078 
2038 31 ,950 1,368 31,950 1,368 
2039 28,646 641 28,646 641 

$ 513,200 63,587 440,051 89,001 46,487 6,334 999.738 158,922 
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Year 
2024 $ 
2025 
2026 
2027 
2028 

$ 

CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Schedule of Debt Service Requirements 
Natural Gas Fund 

June 30, 2023 

Natural Gas Revenue 2023 Vehicle Loan 
Series 2021 

Principal Interest Principal Interest 

33,000 1,323 6,946 1,741 
33,500 974 7,284 1,403 

7,634 1,052 
8,001 685 
8,649 302 

66,500 2,297 38,514 3,442 
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TOTAL TOTAL 
Principal Interest 

39,946 3,064 
40,784 2,377 

7,634 1,052 
8,001 685 
8,649 302 

105,014 7,479 



Year 
2024 
2025 
2026 
2027 
2028 

CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Schedule of Debt Service Requirements 
Sanitation Fund 

June 30 1 2023 

Capital Outlay Note 
Trustmark Bank 

Principal Interest 

$ 25,900 2,625 
26,400 2,120 
26,900 1,605 
27,400 1,080 
28 ,000 546, 

$ 134,600 7,976 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Schedule of Changes in Long-tenn Debt by individual Issue 

June 30. 2023 

Paid and/or 
Original Date Last Issued Matured Refunded 
Amount Interest of Milturity Out.standing During During During Outst nding 
of Issue Rate Jssue Date 7/1/2022 Period Period Period 6/J0/2023 

Business-Type Activities 

Water and Sewer Fund 

2023 Vehicle Loan 46,487 4.750% 2023 3/14/2028 $ $ 46,487 $ $ $ 46,487 
Series 2021 553,1 87 2.400% 2021 6/30/2034 $ 553,1 87 $ $ $ 39,987 $ 513,200 
Series 2017 536.000 2.25% 2019 11/17/2039 $ 462,876 $ $ $ 22.825 $ 440,051 

Total Water and Sewer 1,016.063 $ 46,487 $ $ 62,812 $ 999,738 

Natural Gas Fund 

2023 Vehicle Loan 38,514 4 .750% 2023 3/14/2028 $ $ 38,514 $ $ $ 38,514 
Series 2021 99.000 1.47% 2021 6/30/2025 $ 99,000 $ $ $ 3.2,500 $ 66,500 

Total Natural Gas Fund $ 99,000 s 38,514 $ $ 32,500 $ 105,014 

Sanitation Fund 

Series 2021 160,000 1.95% 2021 11/1 /2027 $ 160,000 $ $ $ 25400 $ 134,600 

Total Sanitation Fund s 160,000 $ $ $ 25.400 $ 134,600 

Governmental Activities 

Sidewalk loan 100,000 1.69% 2021 6/30/2026 $ 80,000 $ $ $ 80,000 $ 

Capstar 123,853 2.93% 2021 6/30/2026 $ 102,893 $ $ $ 24,662 $ 78,231 

Bond 289,000 2.79% 2021 3/27/2025 $ 281 ,000 $ 123,734 $ $ 39,000 $ 365,734 

Bank of Waynesboro 250,000 2.05% 2016 5/1/2023 $ 31,990 $ $ $ 31,990 $ 
Slate Bank 33,080 3.968% 2021 4/1/2024 $ 20,834 $ $ $ 11',130 $ 9,704 

Stale Bank 23,243 2.888% 2020 7/1/2023 $ 8,663 $ $ $ 7,985 $ 678 

State Bank 179,000 3.23% 2020 2/1/2027 $ 130 147 $ $ $ 24376 $ 105,771 

Total Governmental Activities $ 655,527 $ 123.734 $ $ 219,1 43 $ 560,11 8 
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Water Rates- Residential 

Up to 2,000 gallons 

Next 8,000 gallons 

Next 40,000 gallons 

All over 50,000 gallons 

Sewer Rates- Residential 

Up to 2,000 gallons 

Next 8,000 gallons 

All over 10,000 gallons 

Natural Gas Rates - Residential 

0 - 300cu. ft. 

Afl over 300 cu.ft 

Large Commercial and Industrial 

San[t~tion R_ates - Residential 

CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Schedule of Utility Rates In Force 

June 30, 2023 

Inside Clty 

$9,50 Minimum charge 

$4,80 per 1,000 gallons 

$4.25 per 1,000 gallons 

$3.60 per 1,000 gallons 

Inside C1ty 

$17.50 Minimum charge 

$5.00 per 1,000 gallons 

$4,25 per 1,000 gallons 

$3.00 

$9.50 

$9.50 

$8.50 

Outside City 

$19.50 Mihimum charge 

$4.80 per 1,000 gallons 

$4.25 per 1,000 gallons 

$3.60 per 1,·000 gallons 

Outside City 

$17.50 Minimum charge 

$5.00 per 1,000 gallons 

$4.25 per 1,000 gallons 

$3.00 

$9.50 

$9.50 

$8.50 

There were approximately 1,660 water customers, approximately 815 sewer customers and appmximatley 
770 natural gas customers at yearend. 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Schedule of Federal and State Financial Assistance 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Receivable Receivable 
Assistance State (Deferred) (Deferred) 

Listing Grant Balance Grant Other Grant Balance 
Number Number Grantor Agenct June 30. 2022 Receiets Receiets ExeendittJres June 30, 2023 

State Program: 

N/A Z-212THSO128 Tennessee Department 
of Transportation 0 5,000 0 5,000 0 

Total State 0 5,000 0 5,000 0 
Federal Program: 

14,228 2018 CDBG Water System Tennessee Department of 
Improvement Economic and Community 

Development from U. S 0 343,357 0 343,357 0 

Department of HUD 

21.027 American Rescue Plan Act US Depanment of Treasury 
thru the State ofTennessee (S216,269) 262,740 0 199.564 ($279,445) 

21.027 American Rescue Plan Act US Department of Treasury 
thru Giles County Tennessee $0 140,000 0 140,000 so 

Appalachian Regional 
84,923 Utility Jmprovements Commission Program so 11,799 0 11,799 0 

Total Federal (216,269) 757,896 0 694,720 (279.445) 

Total Federal and State (216,269) 762,896 0 699,720 (279,445} 

This schedule prepared on the accrual basis of accounting. 
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COMPLIANCE AND 
INTERNAL CONTROL 



J □ HN R. P □□ LE, CPA 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT 

l 34 NORTHLAKE DRIVE 

HENDERSONVILLE, TN 37075 

INDEPE UDJTOR'S REPORT ON 
INTERNAL CO TROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND 

Mayor and Members of the City Council 
City of Loretto, Tennessee 
Loretto, Tennessee 

(6 1 5) B22-41 77 

OMPLI 

STAND 

I have audited in ac rdaoce with auditing standards general! ac epted in the United Slates of 
ruerica and the standard applicable to financiaJ audits onlaincd in Government uditing 

Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the 
governmental activities. th bu iness t pe activities, and each major fund as of and for the year 
ended Jun - 30, _023 and the relaled notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise 
the City of Loretto s basic financial statements, and have issued a report thereon dated December 
8, 2023. 

Internal Control O r Financial Reporting 
In planning and pe1forming my audit of the financial statements, I considered the City of Loretta's 
internal control over financial reporting (internal conL.rol as a basis G rd ·siening audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpo e of expressing an opinion on th · llnaocial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on th ffecti n s of U1e ity f 
Loretta's internal control. Accordingly, I do not e,·prc ·s an pinion n the em ctivcncs ofth ity 
of Loretta's internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assign •d functi ru , to pr ent 
or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material wcaknc s is a d .fici ncy, or 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and 
con-ected on a timely basis. A significant deficien is a dcficienc , or a combinati n of 
deficiencies, in int mal ntr 1 that is I sev r than a m, terial weakn ss, yet important no1igh 
to met'it attention by those charged with governance. 

My consideration f the internal control wa for lh limit d purpos described in Lbe preceding 
parngraph and a not design d to id utify all deficienci in int rnaJ c ntrol that might b 
mat rial weaknesses r signifi ant d ficicncies and th refore mat rial weakness s or ignificant 
deficiencies may exist that were not identified. I did identify certain d ficiencies in internal contr I 
described in the accompanying Schedule of Findings and Responses as items 2023-0dl and 2023-
002, that I consider to be material weaknesses. 
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Compliance and Other Matters 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Loretto's :financial statements 
are free or material misstatement, I performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of 
laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct 
and material effect on the detcmiination of the financial statement amounts. However, providing_ 
an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of the audit and, accordingly, 
I do not express such an opinion. The results of the tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance 
or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

Response to Findings 
The City of Loretto· s response to the finding identified in the audit is described in the Schedule of 
Findings and Responses. The City of Loretto's response was not subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, I express no opinion 
onit. 

Purpose of This Report 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of the testing of internal control and 
compliance and the result of that testing, and not to prnvidc an opinion on tbc effectjvencss of l11e 
entity's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering U1c entity' s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

December 8, 2023 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Schedule of Findings and Responses 

June 30, 2023 

2023-001 - Separation of Duties 

Condition: The City of Loretto currently has three employees that works in performing the majority of 
the accounting functions for the City. Due to only having three employees performing the accounting 
transactions there is currently an inadequate segregation of duties. 

Criteria: Generally accepted accounting principles require that accounting functions be adequately 
segregated to ensure that the internal accounting controls are effective. 

Cause: The City has a limited number of office employees to provide for a proper division of duties. 

Effect: The risk of errors and in-egularitjes occuning and not being detected in a timely manner along 
with the possibility of fraud or misappropriation of assets increases when accounting functions are not 
adequately segregated. 

Recommendation: For adequate separation of duties, the employee who writes receipts, prepares and 
makes bank deposits, or writes checks should neither reconcile bank statements nor post to the cash 
receipts and disbursements journals. 

Response: " We agree that the staff size will not allow the City to segregate duties. There arc only th.rec 
employees working in the accou1Hing/finance department so it is not possible to segregate duties unless 
more staff were hired. A l the present time we do beJ icve this would not benefit the City to hire additional 
employees." 

2023-002 - JournaJ Entries 

Condition: Several year-end jmunal entries were needed to agree the general ledger to the supporting 
detail records. 

Cause: The City does not have adequate staffing for this accounting to occur. 

Criteria: Generally accepted accounting principles require that the general ledger agree to these detailed 
records. 

Effect: The risk of errors and irregularities occurring and not being detected in a timely manner 
increases when such accounts do not agree to the general ledger. 

Recommendation: The general ledger should be reconciled to the account detaili on at least a monthly 
basis. 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Schedule of Findings and Responses 

June 30, 2023 

Response: "We agree. We will work to reduce the journal entries needed at year end. The contact pei:son 
for this activity is our CMFO." 

71 



Finding Number 

2022- 001 

CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Schedule of Disposition of Prior Year Comments 

June 30, 2023 

Finding Title 

Separation of Duties 

Status 

Repeated 

The original finding number was 2007-001. The current year finding number is 2023~001 . 

2022-002 Journal Entries Repeated 

The original finding number was 2020-002. The current year finding number is 2023-002. 
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Management's Corrective Action Plan 

Audit period: June 30, 2023 

The findings from the June 30, 2023, Schedule of Findings and Responses are discussed below. 

2023-00 l Segregation of Duties (Internal Control) 

Contud p~rson: Jesse Turner 

Plannc:d Corrective .\ction: We do not think hiring additional staff to adequately separate 
the duties is an appropriate action at this time. The Board of Aldermen continues to 
monitor our finances and internal control. 

AJ1tkipa1~d Completion Date: At the current time, due to our size, we do not believe we 

can fully segregate these duties. We will continue to improve and strengthen our internal 
controls, but we cannot give a definite date. 

2023~002 - Journal Entries 

Comacl person: Jesse Turner 

Pla.1med Corrective Action: We will work to reduce the jouma1 entries needed at year end . 

.'\nticipai~d ComplcLiou Date: June 30, 2024 
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